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Introduction




  WHEREVER ONE LOOKS in the nineteenth century, there is a Victor Hugo – each one accompanied by its contradiction: the

  angelic child prodigy of the early Romantics and the satanic ‘Attila of the French language’;1 the militant monarchist

  and the revolutionary socialist; the symbol of a corrupt aristocracy and defender of the misérables; a represser of revolts and instigator of riots.




  By the time he fled the country in 1851, Hugo was the most famous living writer in the world, the founder of two distinct phases of Romanticism. His influence on French literature was second

  only to that of the Bible. In the long night of exile, faced with a new audience – the ocean – he discovered a new set of identities: the visionary poet who invented a religion and

  received personal compliments on his work from Jesus Christ and Shakespeare; the hero of freedom-fighters from Serbia to South America.




  Hugo returned to Paris at the end of the Empire in 1870 as a gigantic oxymoron who seemed single-handedly to represent the history of France since the Revolution. When he died in 1885, he was

  followed to his tomb by a crowd which outnumbered the usual population of Paris. The obituaries turned out to be premature: it emerged that only two-thirds of Hugo’s work had been published

  in his lifetime. Seventeen years after his death, the corpus had swollen to include seven novels, eighteen volumes of poetry, twenty-one plays, a small museum of paintings and drawings, and

  approximately three million words of history, criticism, travel writing and philosophy. Now that the fragments of Océan and the coded diaries have been published, Hugo seems to have

  erred on the side of modesty when he hoped that his complete works would form ‘a multiple book that sums up a whole century’.2




  Our own century has added several Hugos of its own: the prophet of Surrealism, two World Wars and the European Community; the principal saint of a Vietnamese religion; the General de Gaulle of

  French letters and hero of the French Left; the popular classic whose works have spawned adaptations often profoundly opposed to the spirit of the originals; the cross-party monarch of a French

  Republic which commemorated the centenary of his death in 1985 with a nationwide spate of exhibitions, postcards and videos.




  This proliferation of Victor Hugos has had an unexpected consequence: each separate Hugo has fallen into a kind of obscurity or been tidied away under the heading of Cocteau’s distracting

  paradox: ‘Victor Hugo was a madman who thought he was Victor Hugo.’3 The disputatious rabble of his writing was not

  invited to the celebration of its own revolution. Twelve years on, the epic edition of the Correspondance Familiale has been arrested at 1839 by the commercial coup

  d’état of a publisher. France now has several miles of Boulevards Victor Hugo and a small population of busts, bas-reliefs and statues, but there is still no complete, scholarly

  edition of his works and letters. It was in exile in the Channel Islands that Hugo plumbed his own depths and found his widest audience. Definitions of ‘Hugoesque’ in The Oxford

  English Dictionary unfortunately suggest a similar eclipse of the work by the image in Britain. In 1893, ‘Hugoesque’ was a synonym of Romantic–Medieval. By 1960, it had

  acquired a different connotation: ‘Almost Hugoesque in his unflagging pursuit of maids’.4




  *




  THIS BIOGRAPHY had one of its origins in the bowels of the ferry that mysteriously stops its engines in mid-Channel and sits in total darkness for

  several hours before sailing for Guernsey with the first light of dawn. Trapped on the ocean, I began to read the novel which George Saintsbury called ‘the maddest book in recognized

  literature’:5 L’Homme Qui Rit. It had been written a short distance across the water on the top floor of a house

  which might be called the maddest building in the history of domestic architecture: Hauteville House.




  A few months later, I started work with a sense of righteous excitement that the magnificent delusions of works like L’Homme Qui Rit were still being locked

  away during official visits, and with a nagging sense of personal ignorance. Hugo always ended up occupying a large part of anything I wrote on the French nineteenth century. His name came up in

  conversations and tutorials on apparently unrelated subjects. Several of his poems had recorded themselves in memory to be declaimed in moments of guaranteed privacy. Hugo himself remained a

  mystery. I knew the Romantic boot that marched into the Comédie Française in 1830, the fist that ‘confiscated’ French verse for the best part of a century, the eye of

  conscience that stared at Napoleon III from the Channel Islands, and, inevitably, the token of another kind of virility that Hugo poetically called his ‘lyre’; but I had never seen the

  giant as a whole.




  This book is an attempt to explore Victor Hugo in his entirety by using the work on which he lavished the greatest amount of love and ingenuity: his life.




  *




  THE FIRST BIOGRAPHIES of Hugo were a small, inbred community spawned by two squabbling parents: the adulatory account of Hugo’s life up to 1841

  written by his wife and doctored by his disciples – possibly the most plagiarized book in French literature – and Edmond Biré’s three vitriolic testaments to the

  disappointments of growing up (1883, 1891 and 1894). A devout Catholic and passionate admirer of Hugo in his youth, Biré followed the advice of his Bishop to treat Les

  Misérables as a thing of Satan and produced a relentlessly negative image of a self-inflated balloon who held the gaze of the myrmidons below for seventy years, showering them with lies

  and beautiful poems. For one side, Hugo was ‘a hero of humanity’; for the other, a hypocrite and a traitor who cheated and scrimped his way to fame and fortune.




  Each of these biographers wrote with only one eye open at a time, and while, from a scholarly point of view, one might prefer Biré’s black eye-patch to the rose-tinted monocle of

  the Hugophiles, both sides laboured under self-imposed constraints which made it impossible for them to be honest. Hugo was so enmeshed in French cultural institutions and

  their historical controversies that studies written by his compatriots were often more closely related to polemic than to literary criticism. Significantly, the fairest early biographies were Frank

  Marzials’ Life of Victor Hugo (London, 1888) and J. Pringle Nichol’s Sketch of His Life and Work (London and New York, 1893).




  Even when scholarly habits began to prevail, Hugo’s biographers were hampered by the self-defeating discretion of the forty-five-volume ‘Imprimerie Nationale’ edition

  (1904–52), flaunting its omissions on unnecessarily large and expensive pages. It ended with four volumes of carefully weeded correspondence, edited by a woman who was rumoured to be one of

  Hugo’s unacknowledged daughters. It presented the image of a model father and husband, the tireless grandfather of French letters who suffered five generations of little poets to worship at

  his feet. Similarly asphyxiated by incense, Hugo’s mistress of fifty years, Juliette Drouet, had her 20,000 love letters boiled down by Paul Souchon to 1001 monotonous examples of

  self-macerating devotion, offering the unnuanced image of a clinging psychopath – an ‘act of piety’ which was in reality a monument to the editor’s unconscious misogyny and

  a serious distortion of a complex relationship.




  A new age of Hugo biography began in 1954 with André Maurois’s reputable Olympio, continued in its benign spirit by Alain Decaux’s Victor Hugo (1984). Both lean

  heavily to the early years, before Hugo sailed for England. Hubert Juin’s three-volume Victor Hugo (1980–86) is a narrative chronology which turns the Jean Massin

  ‘Édition Chronologique’ into continuous prose. All three decline to investigate the parts of Hugo’s genius that appeared to take the form of deliberate deception.

  Biographers may still be prone to what Macaulay termed the ‘disease of admiration’. Hugo’s biographers have suffered more particularly from the disease of discretion. The best

  biographies of Hugo, in fact, are not biographies at all but editions and studies in which analysis or simple fidelity to the texts makes it possible to peel away the layers of legend to see

  whether anything is left in the middle: Jean Gaudon’s Le Temps de la Contemplation (1969), Victor Brombert’s Victor Hugo and the Visionary Novel (1984), and the editorial

  explorations of Pierre Albouy, Jean-Bertrand Barrère, Evelyn Blewer, Jean and Sheila Gaudon, Pierre Georgel, Henri Guillemin, A. R. W. James, René Journet,

  Bernard Leuilliot, Jean Massin, Guy Robert and Jacques Seebacher.




  The last life of Victor Hugo in English (1976) deserves a special place as an example of political propaganda surviving the regime that produced it: in this case, the Second Empire

  (1852–70). As Hugo wrote of a similar historical anomaly: ‘This rejuvenation of a corpse is surprising.’6 Nourished

  by lies long since disproved, it briefly describes a self-serving, ignorant megalomaniac inexplicably adored by the French as their greatest poet. It is in parts an unacknowledged paraphrase of

  other biographies. The plot summaries, also unattributed, are lifted, with minute changes, from the old Oxford Companion to French Literature (1959). Each borrowed passage is followed by a

  judgement from the biographer’s own pen: ‘cumbersome plot’, ‘the plot and characters . . . do not bear analysis’, ‘has long since become unreadable’, etc.

  Works – even major works – not described by the Companion are not mentioned in the biography.




  Hugo’s fond belief that misdeeds come with their own punishment does not in this case seem overly optimistic. It is fair to assume that the magpie biographer never had the pleasure of

  reading some of the most exciting works of Romantic literature. According to the introduction, ‘The task of writing a life so full, so complex, so exhaustively documented, has clearly daunted

  many biographers. No English writer, until now, has attempted to write a critical biography’. This remark has remained true.




  The present biography was intended primarily to provide its author with an excuse to spend four years reading the works of Victor Hugo. It contains new letters, verses, anecdotes, facts and

  sources. Some mysteries have been solved, others created. Unknown editions and publications have come to light. Information on ‘the most obnoxious’7 of French exiles as he appeared in the prying eyes of Scotland Yard and the Home Office is new. Many of the quotations from Hugo’s works and letters have

  never before appeared out of French – not necessarily a sign of progress in Hugo’s view: ‘How does one recognize intelligence in a nation? By its ability to speak

  French.’8




  Translations from the poems are unavoidably utilitarian and give about as much idea of the original as a written description would of a piece of music. Elucidations which concern the history of

  Hugo’s biographies rather than the story of his life or which open up divergent lines of enquiry have been removed to the archival attic, accessible by the hidden

  staircases marked with note numbers. The largest of these has been given a room to itself (Appendix III).




  A handful of anachronistic allusions to computers and the like are intended to illuminate rather than trivialize, to suggest that Hugo’s brain is not the exclusive property of the

  nineteenth century, and to serve as reminders that the past is not a theme park or a refuge from the present.




  This is the first fully referenced biography of Hugo in any language. It is based on direct exposure to the works of a writer who was once described as ‘an element of Nature’. I have

  accepted the umbrellas of other biographies only when they had some precise find to offer or when they exemplified a particular attitude. Since approximately 3000 words are published every day on

  Victor Hugo, it will be several lifetimes before I can claim to have read everything that has ever been written about him. The exhaustive, ‘definitive’ biography is in any case a myth:

  the only possible complete biography would be the life of a plant or a worm – unless, that is, one accepted Hugo’s view that even stones have souls. The test of a biographer lies in the

  willingness to discard and select. I have tried to offer the reader a mine of information without including the slag heap.




  Biographers of famous writers who believe in their own originality are of course happily deluded. It is usual to talk of one’s ‘debt’ to editors and critics. In most cases,

  ‘free gift’ would be nearer the mark. The mainstays of this biography are the epic Jean Massin edition and the more recent Oeuvres Complètes in the ‘Bouquins’

  series, which became more complete as it went along. Without the work of several generations of editors, it would be impossible to survive in the subterranean labyrinth of Hugo’s works, to

  identify unknown objects and observe its processes before re-emerging in the expected place and in a more or less presentable condition.




  For illumination, I am grateful to Jean-Paul Avice, Alain Brunet, Robert Ellwood, Jean and Sheila Gaudon, Charles Hambrick, Danielle Molinari, Geoffrey Neate, James Patty, Claude Pichois,

  Stephen Roberts and Adrian Tahourdin, and to the following institutions: Taylor Institution Library, Bodleian Library, Bibliothèque Nationale de France,

  Bibliothèque Historique de la Ville de Paris, Public Record Office (Kew), Maison de Victor Hugo (Place des Vosges), Maison d’Exil de Victor Hugo (Hauteville House), Jersey Archives

  Service, Jersey Museum (Catherine Burke), St Saviour Parish Hall, Jersey (M. R. P. Mallet), National Army Museum, Royal Society of Literature, Madame Tussaud’s (Undine Concannon), Archives

  Municipales de Strasbourg ( J. -Y. Mariotte), Universitetsbiblioteket i Oslo (Steinar Nilsen), Family History Library of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints. I am grateful to Edwina

  Currie for suggesting a historical chronology.




  For all sorts of help, I should like to thank Gill Coleridge and, for their editorial tact and kindness, Starling Lawrence and Tanya Stobbs. Thanks also to Helen Dore. May Peter Straus find his

  encouragement justified.




  I am happy to say that every page of this biography owes an unreasonably large debt to Margaret.




  GRAHAM ROBB




  139 Hollow Way




  Oxford OX4 2NE
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CHAPTER ONE


    


  




  A Sabre in the Night




  (1802–1803)




  VICTOR-MARIE HUGO, according to his father, was conceived ‘almost in

  mid-air’, by which he meant ‘one of the highest peaks of the Vosges mountains’.1




  There is some doubt as to what else Major Hugo and his wife were doing in May 1801, 3000 feet above sea-level, overlooking the Rhineland which had just been incorporated into Bonaparte’s

  France. The mountains were infested with bandits and smugglers – or rather, they had been until Major Hugo arrived a few weeks before with his special battalion. He may have returned so that

  his wife could enjoy the view and his account of the campaign. Or, when he made this claim in a letter written shortly after the mother’s death in 1821, he may simply have been trying to take

  some credit for Victor’s ‘sublime muse’ – a poor substitute, as he pointed out, for the army or the civil service.




  Anyone who climbs the 3000-foot Donon mountain today will find the exact spot of Hugo’s conception marked by a block of sandstone in section 99 of the Donon forest, just below the summit,

  near the ruins of a Celtic temple:




  

    IN THIS PLACE




    ON 5 FLORÉAL, YEAR 9




    VICTOR HUGO




    WAS CONCEIVED


  




  This remarkable piece of detective work was the idea of a former Head of Strasbourg Museums, Hans Haug, who erected this memorial-to-end-all-memorials in the mid-1960s as a practical joke. Hugo

  himself preferred a different site. When he retold his father’s story, he usually replaced the Celtic temple with a Roman ‘Temple of Love’, the Vosges with

  the Alps and the Donon with Mont Blanc, which has the advantage of being 3000 feet higher, internationally famous and at the intersection of France, Switzerland and Italy.2 More importantly, it meant that the embryo of Victor Hugo came into existence at a major crossroads of world history: even before he had legs to walk on, he

  was following in the footsteps of Hannibal and Napoleon. With such unhumble origins, it would take an enormous quantity of successful ambition to ensure that the rest of his life was not an

  anti-climax.




  *




  VICTOR HUGO’S father had met his wife in similarly dramatic circumstances four years before.




  Sophie Trébuchet was a Breton, born in Nantes in 1772, the third of seven children. Her mother died when Sophie was eight, and her father had spent most of his life sailing from Nantes to

  the West Indies, filling up with slaves at West African ports on the way out, and returning with sugar and molasses. In 1783, during a fruitless voyage to Mauritius, he caught a disease and died

  5000 miles from home. The remains of Hugo’s maternal grandfather now lie somewhere at the bottom of the Indian Ocean. For Hugo’s mother, the past was something to be locked away or

  remodelled to suit present needs. All that Victor Hugo thought he knew on the subject was that his grandfather ‘was one of those respectable bourgeois who never change their home or their

  views’.3




  Having lost both parents, Sophie was taken in by her Aunt Françoise and was still living in Nantes when the Revolution broke out in 1789.




  According to Hugo, whose writings have supplied the spectacles through which the following events have traditionally been viewed, his mother was a half-wild royalist Amazon, chased through the

  Breton undergrowth by republican soldiers, risking her life to rescue persecuted priests. Brittany itself, in Hugo’s Parisian view of the country, was an antediluvian land inhabited by hairy,

  tattooed peasants, squatting in their cottages or holes in the ground, surviving on milk and chestnuts, fanatically loyal to King and Church, their world-view bounded by the

  horizons of the ancient forests in which they hid, bristling with Druidic superstition and mindless animosity – a contrast, in Hugo’s personal mythology, to the mountain-born genius.

  Only the ‘wash-basin’ of the Atlantic Ocean was equal to the filth of Brittany, he wrote on a visit in 1836.4




  When Sophie Trébuchet was a young woman and the republican soldiers came to stamp out the counter-revolutionary fires of the monarchist Bretons, the forests in which Hugo imagined his

  mother running wild were ‘enormous, dark sponges from which, under the pressure of that gigantic foot, the Revolution, civil war spurted out’.5 The metaphor was clearly inspired by wet socks and shoes, but also by the murkiness of his own past.




  One of the heaviest boots belonged to Hugo’s father, Joseph-Léopold-Sigisbert Hugo (usually known as Léopold). He was the third son of a wood merchant and a governess from

  Nancy in the east of France.6 For a soldier, Léopold Hugo was unusually well educated, but had thrown away the chance to pursue

  his studies in order to join the Army. Camaraderie and adventure were preferable to life behind a desk. When he met Sophie Trébuchet, he was twenty-two years old, a short, broad-chested man

  with a ruddy face and a fat nose, swerving constantly from deep dejection to violent elation, full of flattering stories about himself, delighted to have been shot through the neck and to have had

  two horses blown to pieces while he was riding them in battle. He was unashamed of his plebeian roots but keen to provide himself with aristocratic forebears. He worshipped his commanding officer,

  Muscar, and, like him, wrote bawdy songs and dragged a mistress around with him on all his campaigns. ‘I often press her to my breast,’ he told Muscar in a letter, ‘and, through

  two pretty spheres, I feel the forces which move the world . . . Draw the curtains!’7




  The Revolution stimulated his ambition: he renamed himself ‘Brutus’ and proved to be an enthusiastic republican. Brutus Hugo played his part in the ‘cleansing’ of

  Brittany with no obvious relish but without shirking his duty. He presided over the massacre of entire villages, executed congregations, and, like many soldiers in similar circumstances, adopted an

  abandoned child. When his own children began to arrive, the orphan would be given away.




  In 1793, shortly after the execution of Louis XVI, Hugo’s regiment (the Eighth Lower Rhine) was ordered from the most distant part of France. The idea was to minimize

  those conflicts of loyalty which are the principal military inconvenience of civil war. It was this efficient management of resources which provided Victor Hugo with the convincing antithesis of a

  republican, atheist father and a royalist, Catholic mother: blasted into existence by the collision of modern history’s most powerful opposites.8




  In Hugo’s version of his own prehistory – parts of which appear to have found their way back into local legend – his parents met in the winter of 1795 while this paragon of

  republican virtue was scouring the lanes and thickets in the vicinity of the small town of Châteaubriant, a few miles from Nantes. Châteaubriant was the country home of Sophie’s

  Aunt Françoise and was supposed to be safer than the city. Charging along between the hedgerows, Brutus suddenly came upon a frail, dark-eyed girl. When she heard that he was hot on the

  trail of some renegade priests, she cleverly invited him home to tea.




  Brutus, still smouldering from battle, showed off his shattered foot, his uniform with its seventeen bullet-holes and recited his verse. Sophie seems to have impressed him more than he impressed

  her: she was reserved, even secretive, proud of her self-control. ‘A mother who made provision for the moment in life when one finds oneself alone,’ Hugo wrote in 1822, ‘and who

  accustomed me from childhood to keep everything to myself and let nothing out’.9 She was also seventeen months older and better

  educated than Brutus, a different creature altogether from his battle-scarred mistress and far more intimidating than a band of Breton peasants brandishing their pitchforks and axes.




  Six months later, when Brutus was summoned back to Paris, he promised to write. Sophie promised nothing but reflected on the fact that she would soon be twenty-five and too old to marry. Perhaps

  in order to impress her with his potential for stability, Brutus took a desk job at the Conseil de Guerre in Paris and tried to be patient. Finally, in November 1797, Sophie arrived from Brittany

  with her brother, only to discover that Brutus had been unfaithful – as he himself admitted in a jovial letter to his commanding officer. Rather than face a humiliating

  return to her home-town, she married him, without a priest, on 15 November 1797. There had been talk of a dowry, but, to the disappointment of Brutus, it turned out to consist mainly of

  bed-linen.




  Victor Hugo knew his parents well enough to flesh out the details of their early relationship – a domestic image of the devastation he witnessed as a child in various parts of

  Napoleon’s Empire. But the reality differs from his reconstruction of it in one crucial respect. Far from being royalists, Sophie’s family, like many of their fellow-Nantais, had

  actively contributed to the establishment of the Republic.10 They prided themselves on their modern views and were more likely to be

  found reading Voltaire than the Bible. Her grandfather had worked with the notorious Carrier, who distinguished himself under the Terror by loading excess prisoners on to boats and then sinking

  them in the Loire. Sophie’s young Aunt Louise – one of her best friends – was Carrier’s mistress, and when Sophie and her Aunt Françoise left Nantes for

  Châteaubriant in 1794, they were not fleeing from republican troops but from their fellow Bretons – those who were appalled by Carrier’s brutality, or those whose festering bodies

  were spreading disease, piled up in the open graves to which Sophie’s grandfather had contributed in his capacity as public prosecutor in Nantes.




  Throughout Hugo’s childhood, recent history was subjected to that blithe simplification which retrospectively divides entire populations very neatly into patriots and collaborators. In

  Hugo’s case, the misrepresentation of his own family history owes something to his mother’s silence and his father’s love of stories in which he was the hero. More than that, it

  reflects the battle-lines drawn up by his parents as their marriage fell apart. From the very beginning, the idea of a royalist mother and a republican father was highly acceptable because it

  suggested that historical forces, and not Hugo himself, were responsible for his parents’ incompatibility.




  *




  AT THE TURN OF the century, under the Directoire, the city which Victor Hugo was to call ‘the native city of my mind’11 was a wrecked museum of recent French history, its palaces infested with beggars and rubbish, more like post-revolution Zanzibar

  than modern Paris. The Tuileries Gardens had suffered the indignity of spades and potatoes; statues had been toppled, inscriptions erased. Employees of the Conseil de Guerre occupied the

  Hôtel de Ville (renamed ‘Maison Commune’), where the only intact decorations were the busts of revolutionary leaders.




  In Part Five of Les Misérables, Hugo paints his most memorable picture of the period, dating it, significantly, to the year of his birth, 1802.12 It was then that ‘the conscience of the city’ – its enormous network of sewers – flooded it with its own filth. A characteristically

  Hugolian view of history – compromising, inscrutable and blatant: ‘The mind seems to perceive, straying through the darkness amid the rot of what was once magnificence, that huge blind

  mole, the Past.’ In Hugo’s case, the past would be unusually difficult to contain and analyse, but it carried with it the strong smell of a suspicion that the individuals who embroiled

  his childhood in momentous historical events were subject to even greater forces.




  The popular promenade of Directoire Paris was the Jardin d’Idalie near the Champs-Élysées. In the months leading up to Bonaparte’s coup d’état, free

  enterprise was sprouting among the ruins. The Jardin d’Idalie was an excuse for open-air pornography: tableaux vivants and women dressed as sylphs, disporting themselves in mid-air,

  attached to balloons. Major Hugo took his wife there and ran into an old acquaintance, Colonel Victor de Lahorie, Chief of Staff of General Moreau, who was at that time Bonaparte’s main

  rival.




  Apart from his later involvement in Moreau’s conspiracy against Bonaparte and his role in Victor Hugo’s childhood, very little is known about Lahorie. Even his name changes from one

  page of his biography to the next.13 He was six years older than Sophie and came from the same part of France. A fervent republican,

  but with the manners of a royalist, he was a pleasant contrast to ‘Brutus’: he wore a blue suit and breeches, white gloves and a black cocked hat with a tiny cockade – the first

  sprouting of a more elegant age. A ‘Wanted’ notice posted by the Minister of Police in 1804 asked citizens to be on the look-out for a man of 5 feet 2 inches, with black hair, dark,

  deep-set eyes, a pock-marked face and a sardonic smile. He was also said to be slightly bow-legged, like a man who spent a lot of time on horseback.14




  With the support of Lahorie, Hugo resumed active service. In 1799, he and his wife moved to the more rural setting of the École Militaire in the west of Paris. In a room overlooking the

  Champ-de-Mars (now dominated from the other end by the Eiffel Tower), a first son, Abel, was born exactly one year after the marriage. He was nursed by Mme Hugo to the sound of drums and marching

  soldiers.




  In June, they left for Hugo’s home-town of Nancy. As Stendhal describes it in Lucien Leuwen, Nancy had been turned into a barracks, its streets continually muddied by regiments

  leaving for the Eastern front. The Major stormed off to conquer Bavaria, earning the patronage of Bonaparte’s older brother Joseph with his ‘courage, activity and

  intelligence’15 – the first sign of that stream of coincidences which intermittently connects the history of the Hugos to

  that of the Bonaparte family. Sophie was stuck in Nancy with a finicky mother-in-law and a jealous sister. The only relief was the gentlemanly Lahorie. It has been suggested that they became

  lovers, but the circumstances were hardly propitious. In Nancy, a second son, Eugène, was born on 16 September 1800.




  Almost immediately, Hugo was put in charge of the nearby garrison at Lunéville, where a treaty was signed in February 1801 consolidating Bonaparte’s France. Great days were dawning.

  In the words of a song which Major Hugo hummed at home often enough for his youngest son to remember it perfectly half a century later, the future Emperor issued a stern ultimatum to all the

  sovereigns of Europe: ‘Kiss my ass, and you’ll have peace . . . And peace there was!’16 Mme Hugo did not consider

  her husband a suitable companion for the children.17




  One other important event coincided with the stay in Lunéville: the excursion into the Vosges during which Major Hugo exercised his conjugal rights on the mountain-top.




  In August 1801, he descended with the Twentieth half-brigade to the town of Besançon. The Hugos took a first-floor apartment in an old house on the Place Saint-Quentin. There, one evening

  towards the end of winter, a third son was born at what turned out to be precisely the worst moment. It was a Septidi in the month of Ventôse, Year X of the Republic

  (in the old calendar, 26 February 1802). A significantly insignificant event:




  

    

      

        

          This century was two years old. Rome was replacing Sparta;




          Already Napoleon was emerging from under Bonaparte,




          And already the First Consul’s tight mask




          Had been split in several places by the Emperor’s brow.




          It was then that in Besançon, that old Spanish town,




          Cast like a seed into the flying wind,




          A child was born of mixed blood – Breton and Lorraine –




          Pallid, blind and mute, . . .




          That child, whom Life was scratching from its book,




          And who had not another day to live,




          Was me.18


        


      


    


  




  Major Hugo had been hoping for a girl. The plan was to name her Victorine-Marie – ‘Marie’ after a family friend and ‘Victorine’ after Victor Lahorie, who agreed to

  be the child’s godfather. Since ‘Marie’ was also a boy’s name, the baby was named ‘Victor-Marie Hugo’. There was no baptism19 – another sign that Hugo’s mother was not the fervent Catholic he thought she was.




  It had been a difficult birth and the child was clearly a runt. To judge by his mother’s description – ‘no longer than a knife’20 – he may have been premature. The midwife predicted imminent death and a week passed before the Major reported the birth to Lahorie.




  According to the opening poem of Les Feuilles d’Automne – one of the great verse autobiographies of the Romantic period – a double order was placed with the carpenter

  for a cradle and a coffin. Victor’s sturdy seventeen-month-old brother, Eugène, already enjoying his father’s rude health, saw the puny creature and offered the first subjective

  judgement of the future poet: ‘bébête’ (‘silly’).21




  Six weeks later, the family was to break up.




  *




  FROM A ROMANTIC point of view, it was a disappointing, untidy origin. In Hugo’s lifetime, a critic tried to prove that he must have sucked in at

  birth the stubborn spirit of the Franche-Comté and was a recognizable product of the region; a typical Easterner.22 His place

  of birth, however, is significant only in its almost total irrelevance. Hugo was an Army child, swept along in the storm created by Bonaparte.23 He never saw Besançon again, and his next direct contact with his native city was in 1880 when the local council unveiled a plaque commemorating his

  birth. On that occasion, Hugo sent a letter of thanks describing himself as ‘a pebble of the road on which humanity marches onward’.24 For all his grasping after symbolic coincidences, Hugo, unlike some of his even more neurotic biographers, accepted the arbitrariness of his birth and saw his eccentric

  personal geography as a sign of innate internationalism. He had a mother from Brittany, a father from Lorraine (which was alternately German and French), and a native city which had once belonged

  to Spain. A natural candidate for the presidency of that embodiment of cultural unity he was one of the first to call ‘The United States of Europe’.25




  Hugo saved his biggest distortions for the family. Here, the quest for autobiographical appropriateness veers off into pure fantasy, gradually consolidated and confirmed over the years by layers

  of imagined memories. But to accept Hugo’s version for the sake of narrative convenience and then denounce it as comical arrogance is to ignore the unpleasant reality he spent much of his

  life trying to comprehend or conjure away.




  He later considered himself to have been baptized symbolically by the substitute father, Lahorie, ‘who witnessed my birth’. Lahorie may indeed, as Hugo claims, have

  suggested that the Germanic ‘Hugo’ be softened by the Latin ‘Victor’.26 But when the baby was born, Lahorie

  was in Paris.




  The puniness of the infant Hugo also belongs to both legend and reality. When Hugo dictated the details of his early life to Alexandre Dumas in 1852, he revealed that, even at the

  age of fifteen months, he still had difficulty holding his head erect: it kept lolling on to his shoulders.27 The peculiar precision

  of the detail betrays the mythologizing instinct. He may have been a runt but he had an enormous, compensatory head – his proudest physical possession, not entirely unconnected with his

  boasts of unusually powerful sexual desires and accomplishments. He even boasted of having been diagnosed by an alienist as a cured hydrocephalic.28 The insistence on his puniness, in texts which in other respects are far from modest, casts an ambiguous light on his inferiority to his two older

  brothers. In one sense, he was practically a Quasimodo. On the other hand, the feeble corporation struggling to support the vast brow of genius meant that Hugo was born with the perfect Romantic

  body.




  Seen in relation to his intense rivalry with his two brothers, Hugo’s weakness has another unexpected advantage. The opening poem of Les Feuilles d’Automne explains,

  apparently in contradiction of itself, that mother’s milk, by divine dispensation, is shared equally, but that each son receives it all: the ideal, miraculous solution to sibling rivalry. Yet

  at the same time, the extra care lavished on the sickly baby ‘Made me twice the child of my obstinate mother’.




  In the autobiographical texts, the cruel calamity of Hugo’s early days is plastered over: ‘Abandoned by all, except by his mother’, the child was loved back to

  life. Then the whole family left for Corsica together and ‘the infant quickly reached the age of one’.29




  The interest of this imaginative re-creation of his origins lies in its exact untruth. For all the concern about Victor’s poor chances of survival, the family set off for Marseilles when

  he was only six weeks old. Major Hugo was in deep trouble: he had reported his commanding officer for embezzlement and slanderous accusations were being made about him. Only one thing could save

  his career: an appeal to his protectors in Paris, Lahorie and Joseph Bonaparte.




  So, on 28 November 1802, while the Major remained on active duty, trusting in his wife’s persuasive powers, Sophie Hugo left her baby in the arms of a certain Claudine, the wife of

  Hugo’s orderly, and travelled back to Paris, where she stayed in the Rue Neuve-des-Petits-Champs, close to the Place Vendôme, and even closer to the Rue Gaillon, home of the recently

  retired Lahorie.




  *




  THE SINGLE MOST IMPORTANT fact of Victor Hugo’s formative years is that his advent coincided with the collapse of his parents’ marriage.




  Because of Hugo’s silence about his broken home, emphasis tends to have been placed on the eventual, apparent reconciliation with his father, after his mother’s death. This cheerful

  view may have something to do with the personal lives of his biographers, or it may simply be an effect of traditional biography, crossing off events as they occur. Hugo, on

  the other hand, with his huge capacity for never recovering from grief, lived in circles rather than on a straight line, and the disasters of his life should be imagined as continually recurring

  events, differing only in the degree of intensity.




  

    

      

        

          When the dreaming soul descends into the body




          And numbers in the heart, which cold at last has touched,




          As if counting dead bodies on a field of battle,




          Each departed grief and extinguished dream, . . .




          There, in that night where no light shines,




          The soul, in a dark fold where all things seem to end,




          Feels something still fluttering under a veil . . .




          You who lie sleeping in the shadows – sacred memory!30


        


      


    


  




  Since the sight of a bickering couple always induces someone to offer a helpful diagnosis, Sophie has been accused of being too dry, frigid and even mulish: a quality her husband attributed to

  the fact that she came from Brittany.31 It should be remembered that her coldness and apparent lack of sense of humour had the

  contrasting background of the Major’s perpetually active volcano: ‘I wish I could break down the narrow bounds of language,’ he wrote in 1800, ‘and give full expression to

  my feelings, to deify the woman I adore, to hold her in my arms and press against my breast the mother of my little children.’32




  Whether or not this rampaging style is the sound of sincerity, as is often supposed, the Major’s letters also demonstrate his familiarity with the popular literature of the time:

  exaggerated, simple emotion. It served him well when he came to write his first adventure novel.




  The little children, who were suffering the same ‘deprivation’ as their father, were stuffed with sweets. Victor kept asking for ‘mamaman’33 and had to be fobbed off with macaroon – which is conceivably what he was asking for anyway (‘macaron’).




  In January 1803, the Major struck camp and sailed with his three sons to Corsica, where the French Army was preparing to defend itself against plague and the British. Sophie seemed to be in no

  hurry to resolve the Major’s dispute or even to answer his letters. For the first time in her life she was free and enjoying the company of Lahorie.




  Meanwhile, living conditions for the rest of the family deteriorated rapidly. From Corsica, they sailed to Portoferraio on the tiny island of Elba in June 1803, eleven years before the deposed

  Napoleon tried to drag it into the nineteenth century by building proper roads. They lived in a house in the present Via Guerrazi.34

  A nurse took the boys to play by the sea. There would be no postal service in the winter. The Major felt abandoned. He freely admitted that he did not make a good mother. Victor was teething,

  suffering from the heat, and appeared to have worms. He hardly ever cried but looked around him as though he had lost something. In Corsica, a local woman had been found to take him out in a pram

  but the child seemed uncomfortable with a non-French-speaker. Hugo later claimed that one of the first words he learnt was the Italian ‘cattiva’35 – the feminine form of ‘wicked’, which might reflect a later suspicion that all was not well in his father’s house.




  For all the Major’s semi-religious outpourings, the bottom line of all his letters is that he was desperate for sex. In his view, Sophie had been given fair warning. Now he was hanging on

  to fidelity by his fingertips: ‘Do you think that at my age and with my character it’s a good idea to leave me to my own devices?’ He pretended to set her mind at rest by pointing

  out that women in that part of the world were in the habit of stabbing their lovers to death, not to mention the additional ‘guarantee’ of possible ‘maladies’.




  It was clear that the marriage was over. By insisting on his impressive desires, the expert in self-justification was writing out his absolution in advance. But he was also genuinely bemused.

  His wife had managed the unusual feat of not appreciating his merits: ‘Born with a character which has made me no enemies and brought me many friends,’ he wrote the following year,

  ‘I have seen you grow unhappy with me, contriving to live apart from me for specious reasons, abandoning me to the ardent passions of my age.’36




  At last, having secured the Major’s future in the Army with the help of Lahorie, Sophie made the long journey from Paris and reached Elba in July 1803. Four months later, she left with the

  children for Paris.




  The only window into the Hugo household in those disastrous four months is the petition drawn up by Sophie in 1815 when she was suing for divorce.37 According to Mme Hugo, her husband had taken a ‘concubine’ called Catherine Thomas, the daughter of a hospital employee at Portoferraio. This

  is the woman who called herself Comtesse de Salcano, Major Hugo’s future second wife. She was probably the model for the transvestite soldier in his conventionally melodramatic novel written

  in retirement, L’Aventurière Tyrolienne – intrepid, childless, and eleven years younger than Sophie. Suspecting nothing, Sophie was persuaded to sail for France with the

  three boys before the British came and took them all prisoner. Hugo was left to indulge what his wife described in her petition as his ‘unbridled desires’.




  Subsequent letters from the Major suggest that he had tried, one last time, to stir up some passion in his wife. He missed his sons and it was probably only later that he attached himself to

  Catherine Thomas. Sophie’s petition dates from a time when she was busy constructing the legend of a royalist Amazon manacled to a republican vandal which her sons inevitably accepted as the

  truth.




  The only certainty is that when Victor Hugo arrived in Paris at the age of one and three-quarters, his parents had begun the long and painful separation which continued throughout his childhood

  and dragged him on a tour of Napoleon’s Empire.




  *




  HUGO NEVER PRETENDED to remember anything from this period. In the splendid vision attributed to the mothers of children born at the turn of the century,

  and then, much later, to his alter ego, Marius in Les Misérables, ‘the Revolution was a guillotine in the twilight, the Empire a sabre in the night’.38 Like most writers of his generation, Hugo had the impression of having entered the world in a mythical age – the child of a giant,

  wrapped in a banner, laid on a drum and baptized with water from a helmet.39




  If, as he claims, his early years were lived through a fog of cultural prejudice and twenty years of political and domestic unrest, his parents’ mistake made it an unusually thick and

  representative fog. Little by little, a curiously similar situation materializes in Hugo’s future, as if the adults around his cradle – or his coffin – had

  created roles that other actors would fill.




  The ‘sacred memory’ which survives and predates all other memories is also the unconscious recollection of childhood, and a suspicion of the truth. The rediscovery of that truth is

  one of the stories of Hugo’s life. It was a far more dramatic tale than the ingenuous narrative according to which Victor Hugo became the dominant figure of French Romanticism because he was

  a megalomaniac with an unshakeable belief in the reality of his own image. That would have been comparatively simple. Extracting a means of expression for unacceptable truths from a literature

  bound by convention was something far more worthwhile, something almost worthy of a giant’s son conceived on a mountain-top.




  





  

    

      
CHAPTER TWO


    


  




  Secrets




  (1804–1810)




  HUGO’S EARLIEST MEMORIES are of his first Paris home: 24 Rue de Clichy, across the road from

  the Tivoli Gardens. There was a courtyard with a well, and a willow which dipped its branches in a water-trough. While Abel went to school, Victor and Eugène were sent to a nursery in the

  Rue du Mont-Blanc (now Rue de la Chaussée-d’Antin).




  If Victor Hugo Raconté Par un Témoin de sa Vie is to be believed,* Hugo’s adventures at his first

  institution were amazingly prophetic. Every morning, Victor was deposited by the maid in the bedroom of the schoolmaster’s daughter. If she lived long enough to read the book, Mlle Rose would

  have discovered that as she clambered out of bed and pulled on her stockings, the infant Hugo was registering the image of her naked legs.




  The schoolmaster’s daughter also became the victim of a more dramatic display of infant sexuality. Like the narrator of Proust’s À la Recherche du

  Temps Perdu, Hugo’s deepest well of memories contains the story of Saint Geneviève de Brabant, the Countess who was falsely accused of adultery and took refuge in the woods with

  her baby son – a potent transposition of Hugo’s fantasies about his mother: the fugitive, the martyr, the abandoned woman transferring all her affection to her child. Proust’s

  character learns the story from his magic lantern. Hugo’s involvement, as befits an age of heroes, was more physical. It was the school play. Mlle Rose was Geneviève and Victor her

  baby son, dressed in a sheepskin. While she tried to read her lines, he stabbed at her legs with the iron claw that was part of his costume.




  Plausible as they are, these memories of a precocious hankering after female flesh are also commonplaces of Romantic autobiography.1

  They belong to the same Herculean tradition that has Victor and Eugène devouring the roasted thigh of an eagle – the imperial bird – on their forthcoming journey to

  Italy,2 and might serve as a reminder that even memories are subject to changing fashions. It should be said, in defence of the use of

  such early impressions, that Hugo enjoyed a spectacular, long-term photographic memory: he once correctly counted, in his mind, the number of buttons on his father’s uniform,3 and – even more remarkable – lived into old age and never told the same story to the same person twice.4 But even if these memories were selected and contrived, they should not be dismissed as lies: the original choice may not have been conscious.




  The child in sheep’s clothing stabbing at his mother’s fictional counterpart with his fifth member is an unusually crisp expression of unconscious desire, perhaps too an unconscious

  allusion to the expression mouton à cinq pattes (‘a five-footed sheep’), meaning a phenomenon or a prodigy.5

  The megalomania which is supposed to be the distinguishing feature of Hugo’s autohagiographies is certainly present in these memories; yet they also show that his attempt to give his life the

  quality of a myth entailed the rejection of a myth: the innocence and purity of the child.




  The only objective glimpse of Victor Hugo in his third year is a disappointing contrast. It comes from his father’s former colleague at the Conseil de Guerre, a compatriot of Mme Hugo

  called Pierre Foucher – Victor Hugo’s future father-in-law. When he visited the house in the Rue de Clichy, Foucher always found the youngest child sitting in a

  corner, whining and drooling on his bib.6




  The other place in the nursery where little Victor was deposited was a window-sill, from where he watched the construction of a town-house belonging to Cardinal Fesch.7 A sign that both the economy and the Church were recovering from the Revolution. One day, as he watched the masons at work, a huge block of stone plummeted

  to the ground, crushing a worker beneath it. On another occasion, a rainstorm turned the streets around the nursery into rivers and the two brothers were stranded until nine in the evening.




  The fact that Cardinal Fesch was the uncle of Napoleon and had celebrated his nephew’s marriage with Josephine in 1804 may be purely coincidental, although it does reveal another segment

  of that labyrinth which, in nineteenth-century Paris, connects everything to everything else. Both stories, in any case, form a kind of allegorical vignette of Hugo’s childhood – a

  childhood which is littered with more real dead bodies than the imaginations of his Romantic contemporaries.




  The violence and danger in Hugo’s earliest memories are also an accurate reflection of the adult world. Strange men were often seen dawdling in the streets around the nursery and the

  family home. A plot to assassinate Napoleon had been uncovered (the Moreau conspiracy) and Lahorie, as one of the ringleaders, was being hunted by the police. In the autumn of 1804, in the month of

  Fructidor (September), a dawn raid took place at 19 Rue de Clichy. It was the home of a close friend of Lahorie. Meanwhile, across the road, a man answering only to the name ‘M. de

  Courlandais’ was spending four nights with his friend, Sophie Hugo, before continuing his oddly erratic tour of the provinces.8




  Hugo’s determination to ‘construct a faith for himself’,9 to evolve an infallible eye for Evil and to plant his

  feet on solid ideological rock is the paradoxical result of the enormous, fragile confusion which presents itself in history as the growth and consolidation of Napoleon’s Empire. A

  bureaucracy had turned a large percentage of the population into spies. Sophie’s relations with republican conspirators and their royalist allies were certainly not a secret. Lahorie might

  have been arrested at any minute; but he appears to have enjoyed the clandestine support of the Minister of Police, Fouché, whose information network was a

  subterranean empire within an empire which survived his dismissal in 1810 and, for that matter, the fall of the Empire.




  The only person still in the dark was Major Hugo – still wondering why he was only a major after nineteen years’ distinguished service and no lack of ambition. Nameless men who sat

  in offices knew that Major Hugo’s wife was carrying on with a conspirator. Any request for promotion would have reached Napoleon with a cross-reference to the file on Lahorie. Hugo could only

  bang his head against the trap-door at the top of the ladder while a bureaucrat kept it shut.




  A few weeks after the Battle of Trafalgar concentrated the war effort on the Continent, Major Hugo was given another chance to prove his worth. He took part in the conquest of the Kingdom of

  Naples. The Austrians were expelled and the Kingdom was given to Joseph Bonaparte. Now able to act on his own initiative, Joseph made the intrepid Hugo one of his aides-de-camp and sent him into

  the mountains of Calabria to exterminate the followers of the bandit leader known as Fra Diavolo (‘Brother Devil’).




  The Fra Diavolo campaign, which ended with the arrest of the bandit and the decimation of his guerrilla army,10 became one of the

  Major’s principal claims to fame and the attention of his dinner guests. ‘He would wrinkle up his nose like a rabbit – a characteristic expression of the Hugos – wink as

  though he had a new joke up his sleeve, and then tell us what we had already heard twenty times before.’11




  What they heard was the version of the occupying army. The more Romantic and, as it happens, accurate version was well known to Victor Hugo and his contemporaries. The ‘bandit’ was a

  leader of popular resistance, an Italian Robin Hood who had been ennobled by the exiled King of Naples and refused to recognize Major Hugo’s authority when he came to interrogate him in his

  cell.




  When the six-year-old Victor saw his father again for the first time in five years, the story would have provided rich soil for his doubts and suspicions. Who was the hero: his father or his

  bandit victim? The fact that Hugo’s childhood universe contained a genuine outlaw in open revolt against his father helps to explain the huge aesthetic and symbolic

  triumph of the Romantic drama, Hernani. The righteous bandit-prince was already a cliché in 1830; but when that legendary figure was fuelled by the real disappointments and anxieties

  of the child, it stimulated the fantasies of a generation which had grown up under the shadow of the Empire. Two decades on, the bandit struck back:




  

    

      

        

          

            

              

                Vengeance limps and hobbles along,




                But eventually arrives . . .




                Remember that I hold you yet! . . .




                Small and puny in my hand,




                And should I clench this too-loyal fist,




                I’d crush your Imperial eagle in its egg!12


              


            


          


        


      


    


  




  In December 1807, without telling her husband, Mme Hugo suddenly decided to transport the family to Italy. Hugo had been promoted to the rank of colonel and installed in the palace at Avellino,

  east of Naples, as governor of the province.




  Mme Hugo hated travelling, but it was an excellent opportunity to force a decision on the children’s future, fix the monthly allowance and find out about the Thomas woman. According to the

  Colonel, Mme Hugo had been ‘building castles in Spain’13 (a prophetic image), implanting in the minds of her three sons

  the fantasy of an immense fortune which their father was frittering away on prostitutes and easy living. This intangible treasure-trove became part of the family myth. Its non-existence, combined

  with a financially incompetent father and a mother who scrimped and splurged in equal measure, made the adult Victor Hugo an enthusiastic saver – a highly unRomantic trait which earned him a

  reputation as a miser.




  For two months, the family lived in a coach, crossing the Alps in January by the Mont Cenis – Abel and Eugène on mules, Victor and his mother in a sleigh; or, as the ode ‘Mon

  Enfance’ (1823) puts it: ‘High Cenis, whose eagle loves the distant rocks, / From its caverns, where the avalanche grumbles, / Heard its ancient ice cry out beneath my childish

  feet.’




  Victor saw Parma under floodwater, glimpsed the white waves of the Adriatic sparkling in the distance, stared at the severed highwaymen’s heads which had been nailed to trees at the

  roadside, waved straw crosses at peasants just to see them cross themselves14 – which casts more doubt

  on his mother’s devoutness – and worried that the coach might tip over at any moment. In Rome, he marvelled at the toe of St Peter, eroded by fifteen centuries of pilgrims’

  kisses.15 From there, Mme Hugo announced that the family was about to turn up on the Colonel’s palatial doorstep.




  Colonel Hugo quickly arranged accommodation in Naples, claiming that the palace at Avellino was unsuitable – which was undoubtedly true. The thirty-four-year-old stranger in a dazzling

  uniform had the boys signed up as members of his regiment, the Royal-Corse.16 It was a gesture which enabled Victor Hugo to describe

  himself, years later, as a soldier since childhood – the career he abandoned in favour of poetry or which he successfully combined with it. The Colonel was too busy to spend much time with

  his boys. They waited in Naples while their parents fired angry letters at each other.




  Naples, for Mme Hugo, was like Hell, swarming with aggressive beggars who cooked their fish and macaroni in the street outside the house.17 This was the city which, three years later, made Stendhal wish he was back in Paris:18 rotten company, bad

  music, noisy plebs and carriages driven far too fast on appalling roads. Vesuvius was in full spate – ‘one of Nature’s finest horrors’, enthused the Colonel in a

  letter.19 His son described it in a heroic, classical vision which dates from his early twenties – the story of a whole year in

  miniature, and in code:




  

    

      

        

          

            

              

                Naples, on whose scented shores Springtime washes up,




                And which fiery Vesuvius covers with a burning canopy,




                Like a jealous warrior who, witnessing a feast,




                Casts among the flowers his bloodied plumes.20


              


            


          


        


      


    


  




  For Hugo, this is a powerful, personal image. In the gardens of his childhood, his mother’s flowerbeds were sacred. She seems to have lavished on plants the attention she denied her

  husband. In the poem, the warrior’s helmet has the same destructive effect as the boys’ football.21




  From Naples until the return to Paris the youngest child’s memories are skewed and inaccurate, which is just as revealing as an exact recollection: four months in the palace at Avellino; a

  bedroom with a long crack in the wall (earthquake damage), through which he peered at the countryside.22 He

  also remembered, in a curious image, ‘sitting astride’ his father’s sword ‘in the barracks at Rome’23

  – presumably because Rome rhymes with homme, whereas Naples, in French, can only be rhymed with Étaples, which is a small town in northern France. A clear

  indication that the autobiographical content of these poems is not to be looked for in geographical and chronological details.




  In reality, the visit to Avellino, which Hugo remembered as a long stay, was a mere excursion, in the absence of Hugo’s mistress. The family remained in Naples for a whole year, perhaps

  because Mme Hugo fell ill. In July, Colonel Hugo was asked to join Joseph Bonaparte in Spain and, though he was under no compunction to do so, left like a shot. The only reliable report on what

  happened during the year in Italy comes from an unjustifiably optimistic letter written by the Colonel in Vitoria on 10 October 1808. He had just sent 6000 francs to his wife in Naples and promised

  to invest money for the boys:




  

    

      

        The children will thus receive an education which will enable me to promote their careers. In this way they will suffer no ill-effects from our decision to live apart. We must ensure that

        they remain ignorant of our decision and take care not to implicate them by heaping insults on each other.




        We have proved that we cannot live together, and now that our children’s interests have prevailed against a public, judicial separation, you must raise them to respect both of us

        equally.24


      


    


  




  To judge by letters written by Victor Hugo on and shortly after his mother’s death, his father’s hope was not quite as vain as he obviously thought it was: ‘She never spoke of

  you in anger and it was she who engraved in our hearts the deep feelings of respect and affection we have always had for you’ (28 June 1821).




  The second letter is closer to the ambiguous truth: ‘We have always been proud of the brilliant reputation you earned, and our beloved mother, even in the midst of her worst sufferings,

  was always the first to inspire us with respect for it and to make us aware of the worth we should attach to our name’ (28 November 1821).




  Here, the father is an abstraction – ‘it’ instead of ‘you’25 – the

  embodiment of status rather than personal virtue.




  For Mme Hugo, in 1808, the remark about promoting the boys’ careers would have sounded an ominous note. France had been at war since the birth of the eldest son, and every peace treaty was

  the signal for battles on a new front. Her boys were being raised to be cannon-fodder for the Emperor.




  *




  SHORTLY AFTER RETURNING to Paris in February 1809, Mme Hugo found the perfect hiding-place. Close to the southern edge of the city, a quiet cul-de-sac

  led off the Rue Saint-Jacques. At the far end of the Impasse des Feuillantines, an iron gate opened on to a courtyard and a house which had once been part of a convent. Under Louis XIV, the

  Feuillantines convent had served as a remand hostel for adulterous wives – a custom which survived elsewhere in Paris for most of the nineteenth century. Later, it doubled as a rest-home,

  because of the silence and clean air. During the Revolution it had been closed down and was falling into disrepair.26




  At the back of the house, two rooms with tall, south-facing windows gave on to a vast, overgrown garden and an ancient avenue of chestnuts – 5 acres of wilderness enclosed by high stone

  walls.27 Looming over the secret garden and creating a special light and climatic zone (according to Balzac, who in Les Petits

  Bourgeois chooses the area as the natural habitat of a retired civil servant28), were the ‘gigantic spectre’ of the

  Panthéon and ‘the leaden head’ of the Val-de-Grâce. Through the knee-high grass, behind the drooping vines and espaliers, Victor and his brothers discovered the wall of a

  ruined chapel. Two decades before, a hand had stencilled on to it the words ‘Propriété Nationale’.




  That June, a makeshift bed appeared behind the altar and a man was sometimes seen walking in the garden, reading a book. The other families in the house were told that it was an eccentric

  relative of Mme Hugo who had odd sleeping habits. To the boys, he was ‘M. de Courlandais’ – the gentleman who helped them with their homework, joined in their games and put their

  mother in a good mood.




  Every path in Hugo’s brain leads back eventually to the Feuillantines garden29 with its chattering

  birds, its ‘flowers opening like eyelids’,30 the smoke from neighbouring chimneys and the moon moving behind the

  branches. Confirmation that a safe, secret place existed in the world, a stone’s throw from the turbulent city. This is what gives the commonplace of Mother Nature such resonance in

  Hugo’s poetry. It was under his mother’s eye that he acquired that intimate knowledge of Nature which he always refers to as an education and an antidote to the academic. When, a few

  years later (in the poem ‘Ce Qui se Passait aux Feuillantines Vers 1813’), a headmaster, ‘bald, black’ and ‘ugly’, came to urge Mme Hugo to send her boys to his

  boarding school, it was the garden that persuaded her to keep them:




  

    

      

        

          

            

              

                Even the most vulgar man has grand, impressive phrases




                – ‘It is essential! It is fitting! It is important!’ –




                Which sometimes unsettle the strongest of women.




                Poor Mother! Which path to choose? . . .




                It was then, as I mentioned before,




                That the beautiful garden, that shining Eden,




                Those old crumbling walls and young roses,




                Those objects which think and gentle things,




                Spoke to my Mother by water and air,




                And whispered softly, ‘Leave that child to us!’


              


            


          


        


      


    


  




  In the Feuillantines, for the first time, Victor Hugo comes to life in his own right. He now had a group of playmates: the children of the Delons and the Fouchers, whose fathers were civil

  servants at the Conseil de Guerre. The Delon boy was eight years older than Victor, notorious for never using pavements: he got about the quartier by crawling along gutters, jumping from one

  rooftop to the next. Victor Foucher was the same age as Victor Hugo; the daughter, Adèle, was almost two years younger. The eldest Foucher, Prosper, had caught fire while playing by the

  stove and burned to death as his parents tried to break down the door which, for some reason, he had locked.31 An important

  consequence for Victor Hugo was that Adèle’s mother became extremely protective of her children. She cursed herself for having forced Prosper to go to school and especially for having

  thus followed Mme Hugo’s advice. According to Adèle, Mme Hugo’s recommendation that Prosper be educated somewhere else was motivated by the fact that she

  ‘could never stand the sound of other people’s children’.




  Her own sons were not noted for their contemplative natures. When the family was in Naples, Colonel Hugo had described his youngest child as a studious boy with a sweet face who always thought

  before he spoke and got on well with his brothers.32 In the Feuillantines a few months later, he proved to be quite normal. He played

  with lead soldiers, tortured frogs and insects, had a knack of dislocating his playmates’ wrists, and pushed Adèle on the swing until she disappeared into the branches: a fitting start

  to their relationship.




  The only vestige of the horrors Victor had seen on the roads of the Empire lay at the bottom of a dried-up well. It was the home of a black, scaly, pustular creature of hair and slime which

  ‘observed but was never seen’. Its name was ‘le sourd’, possibly by confusion with the Deaf School which still stands nearby on the Rue d’Enfer.33




  When he wasn’t playing, and when his mother released him from flower-watering duty, Victor was sent with brother Eugène to collect books at the local cabinet de lecture on

  the Rue Saint-Jacques.34 There, a man in a powdered wig allowed them up to the entresol where the interesting books were kept:

  degenerate descendants of the French classical novel which ‘were inflaming the amorous souls of Paris concierges’ – books in which Mme Thénardier, in Les

  Misérables, ‘drowned what little brain she had’.35 Mme Hugo marked off clear bounds, within which she allowed

  her boys complete freedom. Ignorance of life, she thought, was a natural shield against the immorality of novels. Thanks to this enlightened régime, Victor had learned to read before he went

  to school. Applied to home life, his mother’s theory was to have a disastrous effect.




  The most unusual and disturbing detail in the garden paradise is also the detail which is subject to the greatest distortion – Lahorie – and it is fascinating to see the

  child’s confusion reflected in his later depictions of the period. Several times he places his father in the garden – though Colonel Hugo never visited the Feuillantines. (Hugo may have

  been half-remembering visits from the Colonel’s younger brothers, Louis and Francis, who were both Army officers.36) In two

  separate poems, he records a sighting of Napoleon in a military parade and gives the impression that his father was marching along among the other uniforms, though he was 600

  miles away at the time:37 Napoleon’s enemy, Lahorie, is replaced by his loyal subject, Hugo. The objective truth of these poems

  lies in the association of his father with the Emperor. Now and then, the mouth that mutters away in Hugo’s verse like a voice from the audience is clearly heard and his ambivalent feelings

  towards his father and Napoleon break through: ‘Children of six, we lined your route; / Seeking a father’s proud face in the procession, / Nous te battions des mains.’ A

  strangely gauche expression which is supposed to mean, ‘We applauded you’, but which first strikes the mind as ‘We hit you with our hands’.




  In a later text, Hugo even makes his father responsible for Lahorie’s presence in the chapel: ‘My Father opened his house to him.’ Yet, at the same time, he comes close to

  acknowledging the fugitive’s true role in his upbringing: Lahorie ‘fastened his eyes on me and said, “Child, remember this: above all, Freedom.” Then he placed his hand on

  my little shoulder, and the tremor I felt is still with me.’38




  This symbolic scene in the garden brings to mind – as it was certainly supposed to – another, more famous scene of revolutionary history: Benjamin Franklin taking his grandson to see

  Voltaire so that he could receive the great man’s ‘blessing’, ‘Dieu et la Liberté’. But it also shows how a political ideology could be used to make

  sense of a confusing childhood. ‘This word’, says Hugo in his capacity as champion of democracy-in-exile, ‘was the counterweight to a whole education.’




  *




  EDUCATION AT THE FEUILLANTINES eventually consisted of a six-hour day in a dingy little school in the Rue Saint-Jacques –

  actually more a repository for neighbourhood children, with private tuition for the intelligent. It was run by a former abbé called Antoine-Claude de La Rivière.39 During the Revolution, La Rivière had taken the triple precaution of leaving the Church, dropping his ‘de’ and

  marrying his servant. Regulation of primary schools was not introduced until the Restoration in 1815.40 Before then, the official

  recommendation was to teach reading, writing, the rudiments of grammar, arithmetic and draughtsmanship, and the new decimal system. Instead, with Mme Hugo’s approval,

  La Rivière poured Latin texts into the open mouths so that, by the age of nine, Victor could recite swathes of Horace and translate Tacitus – a remarkable feat, even with such an

  uncluttered syllabus.




  At four o’clock, Victor and Eugène walked home past the cotton factory where street urchins ‘threw stones at us because our trousers were not torn’.41 In the evening, they competed to see who could translate more Latin: an early sign of a rivalry which La Rivière unwisely

  encouraged.




  Later in life, Hugo painted a black picture of his education at the hands of ‘a priest’,42 and described senility, in

  teachers, as a contagious disease.43 But this was at a time when he was conscripting his own past as a political ally, when he saw,

  in every village in France, ‘a lighted torch’ (the schoolmaster) and ‘a mouth trying to blow it out’ (the priest).44 Even then, La Rivière himself was exempted: he was the victim of cultural prejudice. As Hugo told his father in 1825, when La Rivière, in extreme poverty, had

  asked for a ten-year-old bill to be paid: ‘What little we are worth we owe in large part to that venerable man.’45 A

  pointed remark which underlines the fact that, in contrast to his sabre-rattling father, all his positive images of men were associated with reading: La Rivière, Lahorie and the open-minded

  owner of the cabinet de lecture.




  *




  ON THE MORNING OF 30 December 1810, the local police superintendent entered the Impasse des Feuillantines, followed by a squad of soldiers. A few minutes

  later, they left with the mysterious ‘M. de Courlandais’.46




  Lahorie’s former friend, Savary, had just been appointed Minister of Police and was determined to prove his efficiency. Lahorie was taken straight to prison. His godson never saw him

  again.




  As an accomplice, Victor’s mother should have been arrested at the same time and deported. According to her, she ‘owed her salvation to her knowledge of certain facts which Savary

  did not wish to be revealed’.47 Mme Hugo would certainly not have made this astonishing claim – in a letter to the

  Minister of War in 1815 – if she had no story to tell. Her secret intelligence may even have something to do with the fact that Savary was sentenced to death in 1816,

  the year after she wrote her letter.




  An ability to blackmail the Minister of Police does not suggest a purely passive involvement in the conspiracy against Napoleon. Since the conspiracy actually gained momentum after

  Lahorie’s imprisonment, someone on the outside must have been taking messages, coordinating efforts and, as Colonel Hugo complained, spending inexplicably large sums of money.48 The real situation beyond the garden walls is far more remarkable than the pleasant myth of the brave little Breton risking her life for the

  conspirator she loved. While Colonel Hugo was helping to spread the branches of the Empire, his wife was sawing at the base of the trunk.




  This is where Hugo’s florid legend of a ‘bandit’ mother engaged in counter-revolutionary espionage begins to come true, with some slight chronological adjustment. It was in the

  childhood paradise of the Feuillantines that he first heard ‘History addressed in the “tu” form’.49

  This familiarity with the minutely human origins of cataclysmic events revealed the possibility, on a deeper level, of acting out his own private dramas through history – which can be seen

  either as astounding arrogance or as a splendid opportunity and a psychological necessity. In Hugo’s words: ‘The company of great men made it easy for me, later on, to keep up a long

  tête-à-tête with the Ocean.’50




  *




  TWO MONTHS AFTER the abrupt disappearance of Lahorie, Mme Hugo presented her sons with a Spanish dictionary and grammar, announced that their father was

  now a general and that they would shortly be leaving for Spain.




  By now, General Hugo had been in charge of three different Spanish provinces. The King of Spain, Joseph Bonaparte, had made him a count (this was before brother Napoleon pointed out that Spanish

  grandees were technically equal to kings). Hugo was offered a choice of titles and opted for Siguenza where, by demolishing a church wall, he had uncovered a large treasure previously thought to

  have been carried off by guerrillas. King Joseph sent a message, behind the new Count of Siguenza’s back, urging Mme Hugo and her family to join him. A large army was holding Spain against

  Wellington, whose troops were massing in Portugal. In Spain itself, the occupying French were effectively besieged inside the towns and cities. Joseph was trying to create an

  impression of permanence and stability.




  Mme Hugo’s story was that she hoped to ‘bring him to his senses’.51 Hugo and his concubine ‘were

  squandering the considerable income he received as a General, while his virtuous spouse and unhappy children were forgotten in Paris, where they lived on whatever M. Hugo felt he did not need for

  his life of luxury’.52 Which was to say, a lot of money: in 1810 alone, General Hugo sent his wife 51,000 francs (about

  £153,000 today).* 53 When the family left for Spain in 1811, Mme

  Hugo hired a whole coach and drew 12,000 francs from the bank. Even with inflation, it was a fortune: the price of a single ticket from Paris to the south of France was enough to live on for a

  month.54




  They took with them a manservant and a maid, leaving behind a cat and a canary. The schoolmaster’s wife, Mme Larivière, was to look after the plants. On 10 March 1811, they set off

  for the war-zone, with the boys still poring over lists of Spanish vocabulary. At the age of nine, Victor was heading once again for a country he had never seen; but this time it was a country

  where he would begin to discover the puzzle of his own identity. Even without the adult Hugo’s embellishments, the journey to Spain and back can be counted as one of the great Romantic

  expeditions – not only in the extraordinary incidents of the journey, but above all in its consequences.




  





  

    

      
CHAPTER THREE


    


  




  The Disasters of War




  (1811–1815)




  MME HUGO, Abel and the two servants sat inside the coach. Victor and Eugène grabbed the two

  seats in front, protected only by a leather hood. From there, they could watch the driver and his whip, enjoy the scenery and prove their physical endurance. Heroes had a new enemy: modern

  comforts. The departure from Paris is the first sight of Victor Hugo deliberately exposing himself to the breeze of real experience – a lifelong habit which, even in the cushy age of

  railways, ‘made him a terrible travelling companion for anyone who was afraid of draughts’.1




  Progress was slow, every able-bodied horse in France having been pressed into service by Napoleon. They stopped at Blois, Angoulême and Bordeaux, crossing the Dordogne by ferry, and

  arrived nine days later at Bayonne in the far south-west. Mme Hugo rented rooms, and there they waited for a convoy which was due to leave a month later with bullion for King Joseph.




  Somewhere beyond the Pyrenees, General Hugo was doing battle with another bandit, the hero of Spanish resistance known as El Empecinado (‘The Stubborn’), perpetrating some of the

  horrors depicted in Goya’s engravings, Los Desastres de la Guerra. A local specialty adopted by the General consisted of creating a display of severed heads to set an example. His

  personal innovation was to arrange the heads over church doors. The French Revolution was still exporting its anticlericalism, annihilating the spirit of the Inquisition with its own fire and

  torture. Surveying the historical drama from the vantage-point of the future, Victor Hugo comes close to exonerating his father on the grounds that he was serving a greater morality: ‘That

  Army carried the Encyclopedia in its knapsack.’ ‘It threw open the monasteries, snatched away the veils, aired out the sacristies and slew the Holy

  Office.’2




  Interestingly, this notion of a Voltairean Salvation Army was current in the paranoid milieux which Hugo encountered as a child in Spain: it was the view of the progressive afrancesados

  (pro-French). But his remarks were more than just an ambitious historical analysis or a return to the prejudices of childhood. Hugo was remodelling his father’s footprints before planting his

  own feet in them. Half a century later, he boasts of 740 attacks on Les Misérables in Catholic newspapers and merrily records the revelation of ‘La España –

  a priest-paper from Madrid – that Victor Hugo does not exist and that the true author of Les Misérables is a creature called Satan’.3 Hugo’s father had been acting on the side of Good, and, as if by divine ordinance, the agents of progress were also quite nice people: ‘Let the Army of today

  take note: those men would have disobeyed if ordered to fire on women and children.’




  The last remark is blatantly untrue. It was this savage campaign which had earned General Hugo the title of Count of Siguenza, and he was not being rewarded for his scruples.




  While they waited in Bayonne, Victor and his brothers gorged themselves on the theatre, which had been a yearly treat in Paris. They saw Les Ruines de Babylone – a popular melodrama

  with a genie, a caliph, a eunuch and a trap-door. The following night, they saw Les Ruines de Babylone again. After the fifth performance, they stayed at home in disgust: evidently,

  dwindling audiences did not guarantee a change of programme. Instead, Victor collected birds which he bought from local boys, coloured in the pictures in his copy of The Arabian Nights (a

  present from Lahorie), and listened to the landlady’s daughter reading him stories.




  One of these readings was the occasion of a momentous event which Hugo later wished to see recorded in the biography by his wife. The sight of the girl’s heaving breast gave him his first

  adult erection – or, as an unpublished draft of Victor Hugo Raconté puts it, ‘his virility declared itself’. Hugo also described the great moment in a text which he

  intended to publish: ‘I blushed and trembled [when the girl noticed his wandering eye] and pretended to play with the big door-bolt. . . . It was there that I saw that

  first inexpressible light beginning to shine in the darkest corner of my soul.’4




  This typically heavy-handed yet subtle periphrasis is a splendid demonstration of the fact that the literary proprieties, even prudishness, have certain aesthetic advantages. It also serves as a

  reminder that the babbling brook of Romantic fiction carries darker currents. Without the discipline of what are now seen as constraints and euphemisms, these otherwise trivial details would have

  lost their visionary depth. Hugo’s text represents the vital moment, not just as the revelation of sexual desire at the age of nine, but as the first inkling of a means of expressing the

  ‘inexpressible’, of preserving the mysterious imprint of sounds and objects on the mind. ‘As she read, I paid no attention to the meaning of the words; I was listening to the

  sound of her voice.’




  At last, the great day arrived: the theatre announced a new play, and a grenadier covered in white dust came to escort Mme Hugo and her boys over the border to Irún, where the convoy was

  to assemble. For the first time as a fully conscious being, Hugo saw the curtain go up on a new world. Thirty-two years later, he rediscovered Irún and tried to scrape away the veneer of

  urban ‘improvement’ which threatened to erase his own past:




  

    

      

        It was there that Spain first appeared to me and astonished me so with its black houses, its narrow streets, its wooden balconies and fortress doors – I, a child of France, raised

        among the mahogany of the Empire. My eyes were accustomed to star-patterned beds, swan-neck armchairs, fire-dogs shaped like sphinxes, gilded bronze and turquoise marble. Now, with something

        approaching terror, I saw those great sculptured sideboards, the tables with their twisted feet, the canopied beds, the massive, convoluted silverware, the leaded windows – that old New

        World which spread itself out before me. – Alas! . . . Irún now looks like the Batignolles.* 5


      


    


  




  The family left Irún with the convoy in a tubby museum-piece of a coach, lined with cast-iron to stop the bullets. It was pulled by six mules, with four oxen for the hills. Alongside and

  far behind, 2000 soldiers and cavalry marched along, with a hundred other coaches painted green and gold – the colours of the Empire. In the mountain passes, high on

  the ridges, figures stood silhouetted against the sky, and everyone remembered that the last convoy had been massacred at Salinas. The women were raped, the children dismembered (someone had told

  Victor that guerrillas were especially fond of children), while the men were roasted on spits. Since Mme Hugo’s convoy was one-third the size of the last one, it was considered to be safer.

  They were shot at only once.




  At each stop, they were billeted in houses whose owners left food and disappeared, muttering, behind locked doors. In the face of fleas and rancid oil, Mme Hugo’s courage almost failed

  her. The closer they came to Madrid, the less fresh food there was, and the more signs of French activity. At Torquemada and Saladas, there was nowhere to sleep: both towns had been razed to the

  ground. Victor and his brothers played among the ruins. One day, a ‘cripples regiment’ passed by in the opposite direction – the mutilated remnants of French battalions who were

  strung together and left to make their own way back to France. Few saw home again.




  Why Mme Hugo decided to endanger the lives of her children becomes clearer in the light of an incident which occurred just beyond the town of Mondragon. On a downhill slope, a mule collapsed and

  the coach hurtled towards a precipice. One of the wheels caught on a boulder. While some grenadiers tried to force it back on to the road, Mme Hugo ordered her boys to stay in the coach and not to

  behave like silly girls. The manuscript version of Victor Hugo Raconté observes that Mme Hugo ‘was very firm in her educational system’. For her, this baptism of fire was

  simply parental duty. Once, when he was five or six years old, Victor had been found crying and, as a corrective, was taken out for a walk dressed as a girl.6 Both parents believed that undesirable aspects of a personality could be removed as if by surgical operation. The trip to Spain would be an invaluable part of

  Victor’s upbringing, if he survived.




  Mme Hugo’s educational system did not take account of the fact that its beneficiary was likely to try to re-create similar opportunities on his own initiative. Hugo’s life is

  punctuated, at almost regular intervals, by situations which called for conspicuous acts of bravery and an assumption that his family and loved ones would happily follow him

  over the precipice. The other drawback was that, for Mme Hugo, ‘courage’ was part of keeping up appearances – a heroic conceit which was just as likely to produce a person who

  felt the need to inflate his own achievements and had the nerve to betray his friends.




  But the journey was also supposed to be a cultural excursion, and in this it was a huge success. In Burgos, half-way through the journey, Victor Hugo discovered his passion for architecture. He

  was fascinated by the cathedral, with its firework-display of pinnacles and the mechanical man who shot out of a window high up on a wall, clapped his hands three times and disappeared. The

  revelation of Gothic whimsy at Burgos might explain why some readers found the cathedral of Hugo’s novel about a hunchback a poor likeness of Notre-Dame de Paris.




  Two years later, during the French retreat from Spain, General Hugo demolished three of the pinnacles and shattered the famous stained-glass windows while blowing up the fort and part of the

  town. In 1811, the French had already left their mark on Burgos. Mme Hugo took her sons to see the tomb of the warrior hero, El Cid. French soldiers, stupidly oblivious to the effect on Spanish

  resolve, had used the tomb for target practice.7 Meanwhile, as Governor of the garrison at Madrid, General Hugo was busy destroying and

  exporting significant portions of the national heritage. He oversaw the removal of masterpieces by Velázquez, Murillo and Goya to the Louvre and the Luxembourg Palace – a fact which

  only the author of the entry on General Hugo in the Spanish Enciclopedia Universal has seen fit to record.




  It is worth remembering that Victor Hugo, who did so much for the conservation of medieval works of art and buildings, was the son of a man who stole them and blew them up. Much of Hugo’s

  work can be seen – as he saw it himself – as a kind of reparative pilgrimage: the epic of El Cid in La Légende des Siècles, or the two plays which take their names

  from places on the journey in 1811 – Torquemada and Hernani. For all his proprietorial treatment of history as a supply depot for writers, there is always a certain unease when

  he talks about his father’s activities in Spain. He tends, significantly, to exaggerate his own gifts to the country, not to mention his knowledge of the language.8 Along with everyone who has written about it, Hugo was under the impression that he had endowed the little town of Ernani with the totemic

  ‘H’ of his own name. In fact, it always was Hernani.9




  The final irony is that the picturesque Spain appropriated by the son of General Hugo for his poems and plays was re-imported by his Spanish admirers and contributed to the creation of a

  spurious cultural identity.




  *




  AFTER MORE THAN three months on the road, the convoy reached the outskirts of Madrid. It was important to put on a good display. The soldiers were

  ordered to wash, comb their hair and change into clean uniforms. The guns were polished and Mme Hugo had her carriage swept out. Then they trotted into a dust-storm and arrived in Madrid, filthy,

  exhausted, but safe.




  It was then that the battle began. A cavernous apartment in the palace of the former ambassador to France, Prince Masserano, had been sealed off and assigned to Mme Hugo. General Count Hugo was

  in Guadalajara at the time, exterminating bandits, and welcomed his wife to Spain by suing for divorce. In support of his petition – addressed to ‘His Majesty José

  Napoléon, King of Spain and the Indies’ – he noted that his ‘ambitious’, ‘imperious’ wife had managed to spend 12,000 francs simply travelling, uninvited,

  from Paris. Proof that his authority was being flouted.




  When Joseph Bonaparte returned from the baptism of Napoleon’s son in Paris, he appears to have engineered a specious reconciliation since General Hugo sent a giant crate of candles and

  oranges in August, along with a selection of his uniforms, as if to say that part of him at least would now be residing with the family.




  While they waited for the legendary General to materialize, Victor and his brothers explored the palace.10 The main attraction was

  a gallery lined with portraits of Masserano’s ancestors, magnified by giant mirrors, glittering with chandeliers. Mme Hugo designated it as the play area. The three boys chased each other

  along the gallery, wondered what other treasures lay behind the sealed doors and found two enormous Japanese vases which were just the right size for hide-and-seek. At night, Victor washed in a

  marble bathroom and fell asleep under a Virgin Mary pierced by seven arrows.




  Sometimes, he was joined in one of the vases by a local girl called Pepita.11 ‘She was sixteen, tall

  and beautiful’, with a silk hairnet sewn with doubloons and ‘a toreador’s jacket’; blue velvet and black lace. Pepita was being courted by at least one soldier and seems to

  have allowed the French boy to kiss her in order to provoke her suitors.




  Pepita was an impressive contrast to Adèle Foucher, the little bourgeoise back in Paris. She was the daughter of the pro-French Marqués de Montehermosa. Her mother took her

  francophilia to the point of becoming Joseph Bonaparte’s mistress. It seems almost too good to be true that Victor Hugo should have been frolicking with the daughter while the elder Bonaparte

  was enjoying the company of the mother (strangely, Hugo never mentions this), and especially that Hugo’s sweetheart should have sat for none other than Goya. It thus becomes possible to

  compare Hugo’s description of her in L’Art d’Être Grand-Père (in the section entitled ‘What Grandfather Got Up To When He Was A Child’) with the

  portrait by Goya, and to examine the face which Hugo tried to hold in his memory for the rest of his life. This was the Spanish face he looked for later in his fiancée, Adèle, which

  haunts the last hours of the prisoner in Le Dernier Jour d’un Condamné and which may have inspired the gypsy girl, Esmeralda, in Notre-Dame de Paris. There is a certain

  similarity between Adèle and Pepita: dark hair and eyes, a strong, slightly chubby face, the seriousness and ostentatious self-control. Besides that curious, corpse-like flatness of

  Goya’s portraits, Pepita’s face also has a certain playfulness and daring, both qualities lacking in Adèle, who would never have allowed herself to climb into a vase with an

  excited boy.




  Victor’s parents were playing their own game of hide-and-seek. In September 1811, the General stumbled on the awful secret: his wife had been living with another man. Legally, this was far

  more serious than his own alternative household. General Hugo’s cruel genius (Sophie’s expression) led him to deny the help he had once received from Lahorie and to denounce his own

  wife to King Joseph as ‘a traitor to the State’. Whether or not he took the risk of revealing his wife’s political rather than personal infidelity, the effect was to place the

  boys at the General’s disposal.




  Abel was signed up as a page of King Joseph, which meant that he suddenly became a grown-up in the eyes of his younger brothers: pages at the Franco-Spanish court wore a

  blue uniform with gold trimmings, silk stockings, a white-plumed hat and – every boy’s dream – a sword.12 Before

  entering the service of the King, Abel was to join Victor and Eugène in a school for sons of the nobility in the nearby monastery of San Antonio Abad, known to the French as the

  Collège des Nobles.




  Mme Hugo left her children in the sunless, echoing corridors with two monks – one thin, the other fat, both smelling of the crypt. True to her Enlightenment upbringing, she informed the

  monks that her sons would be unable to attend Mass because they were Protestants. As children of a French general, they would have to be treated with respect. They were also several years ahead of

  the other boys in Latin and leapfrogged into the top class. This instant promotion might have consoled them for the loss of their mother, but it only served to increase the confusion. Power and

  impotence combined. The General sometimes took them out in his carriage with his mistress, the self-styled ‘Comtesse de Salcano’, but the boys saw their father more often through the

  words and actions of others than in the flesh. It was a deeply impressive image. The seemingly boastful exaggerations of the ode ‘Mon Enfance’ are probably an accurate description of

  the child’s impression:




  

    

      

        

          

            

              

                Through the lands of ten vanquished races,




                I passed defenceless, amazed at their fearful respect.




                At an age when one is pitied, I seemed to be a protector,




                And when I uttered the cherished name of France,




                The foreigner turned pale.13


              


            


          


        


      


    


  




  Hugo’s memories of the Collège des Nobles in Madrid are happy or unhappy depending on the ideological context in which he chooses to place them. On the whole, any unpleasantness

  seems to be a transposition of turmoil in the family. There was famine in the city and rationing in the school, but his memory retained only the delicious watermelons and olla podrida, an

  improvised stew which he later recreated at his own dinner-table. The dormitories were almost deserted and freezing cold in winter, but they were tended by an unhappy little hunchback whom the Hugo

  boys treated as their personal servant.




  Dressing his earlier self in one of its more unlikely costumes, Hugo claims to have fought for the Emperor, inside the school, attacking anyone who dared to call him

  ‘Napoladron’.* 14 Yet only twenty-four of the

  original 500 pupils remained in Madrid and practically all were from afrancesado families.15 The monks themselves were careful

  to compromise only their principles. The nastiest Spaniard was objectionable mainly for aesthetic reasons – a lazy pig of a boy with enormous, claw-like hands called Elespuru, who reappears,

  with the same name, in the third act of Hugo’s Cromwell (1827) as a court jester.16




  One of the most enduring effects of school life in Madrid lies at the point where the personal meets the political. Instead of calling each other by their Christian names, pupils at the

  Collège des Nobles used titles – Marqués, Conde, etc. A far cry from Larivière’s grimy little schoolroom in the Rue Saint-Jacques. Hugo’s first

  sight of himself in the eyes of a larger society was unlikely to inspire him with modesty. Victor and Eugenio Hugo were better at Latin than anyone else, the monks were afraid to punish them, they

  had a brother who carried a sword, their father was a friend of the King, their mother lived in a palace, and now everyone called them ‘Viscount’.




  The eight months of domestic misery and social grandeur in occupied Spain can be seen as the start of Hugo’s peculiar relationship with his own name. ‘A name is an identity,’

  he claims in Les Misérables;17 but for the ten-year-old Visconde Hugo, which name was the real one? He shared in the

  glory of his father’s title, just as he was used to hearing his mother addressed as ‘Mme la Générale’. But now, when she travelled, she called herself Mme

  Trébuchet, sometimes aristocratically appending her aunt’s little property in Brittany to her maiden name: Mme Trébuchet de la Renaudière – a complete rejection of

  the General, marital, social and geographical. Victor’s Christian name, on the other hand, was a souvenir of the man in the Feuillantines garden. With such a choice of signposts at the

  beginning, it is hardly surprising that the map of Hugoland should become increasingly complex.




  *




  IF NAPOLEON’S EMPIRE had lasted, the writer known as

  Victor Hugo would probably have been a Spanish poet called the Count of Siguenza. ‘My works would have been written in a language which is not widely spoken and would thus have had little

  effect.’18 The survivor’s privilege is to write history with a sense of humour. In this view, the fall of Napoleon I

  – and, later, of Napoleon III – paved the way for Victor Hugo, the punch-line of the Second Empire.




  In the spring of 1812, the French were streaming out of Spain by the thousand. Wellington was advancing on Madrid. A travel warrant was hastily issued to Mme ‘Hugau’ and she was

  reunited with Victor and Eugène. Abel stayed behind with his father, a soldier at the age of thirteen – which says more about French desperation than his abilities as a soldier.

  Hundreds of families had already left on foot and died of thirst on the plains of Old Castile, where the wells had been poisoned with manure and dead animals.




  Hugo’s memories of the return journey are fragmented and horrific.19 They cast a shadow over the rest of his life which is

  easily missed: odd, unreal incidents in what would soon appear to have been an almost imaginary interlude in their life in Paris.




  At the gates of Vitoria, the bleeding limbs and severed head of a bandit leader’s nephew had been gathered up and nailed to a crucifix. At Burgos, Hugo saw a procession of lantern-bearing

  penitents, escorting a man seated back-to-front on an ass: he was about to be garrotted on the public square. With its scaffold and cathedral, Burgos is the birthplace of Hugo’s obsessions:

  the preservation of the past and the abolition of the death penalty – both strongly associated with his father.




  Finally, after the huge relief of crossing the border at Saint-Jean-de-Luz, in the courtyard of an inn, ‘an enormous wagoner’s cart, unhitched, with its chains hanging down. –

  Why, in such a long and eventful journey, which certainly had its share of curious and remarkable things, should something so insignificant be remembered? Is that not a mystery?’ A mystery

  which Hugo’s mythologizing mind tried to rescue from its unfathomable banality in Les Misérables: ‘a fat chain worthy of the convict Goliath, with the air of a gaol about

  it, turning rusty and getting in the way like outmoded institutions’.20




  *




  THE FATHERLESS FAMILY arrived back at the Impasse des Feuillantines in April 1812. Nothing had changed. ‘M. de

  Courlandais’ had not returned. For the next two years, Victor Hugo effectively disappears in the apparent uniformity of a safe and almost normal life: the lessons of Larivière, the

  richer, improvised curriculum of the cabinet de lecture, and games in the garden with Adèle Foucher, who reminded him of Pepita. Their mother often went out alone on unexplained

  visits. The only echo of the disintegrating régime in Spain was the increasing lack of money: Joseph Bonaparte had delegated one of General Hugo’s salaries to Sophie, but payments were

  irregular. Most of the French Army now consisted of unpaid conscripts.




  Only once in that quiet period, as the Grande Armée was leaving the smouldering rubble of Moscow for 1000 miles of Russian winter, did Hugo’s childhood world feel the tremor

  of historical events. It was a drizzly evening in October 1812. He was playing with Eugène outside the church of Saint-Jacques-du-Haut-Pas, opposite Larivière’s school, when

  they spotted a poster on one of the columns. Some generals who had tried to depose the Emperor in his absence were to be executed. They were struck by the name of one of the condemned men: Soulier

  (‘Shoe’). The other names – Malet, Guidal, Lahorie – meant nothing.




  As they found out later, the execution marked the end of their mother’s career as a conspirator. On 23 October, General Malet had proved that the Empire was an upside-down pyramid poised

  precariously on one man. A forged document convinced Malet’s jailers that Napoleon had perished in Russia. Lahorie was freed and then helped to arrest two government ministers and the Prefect

  of Police. For half a day, Mme Hugo’s lover was Minister of Police. When the deception was discovered, reprisals were swift and extreme – probably to prevent a proper investigation by

  Napoleon when he returned. Lahorie was shot by firing-squad among the vegetable plots on the edge of Paris, while undercover agents were sent to every second-hand clothes shop in the city with

  orders to buy up all the General’s uniforms in case it happened again.




  Hugo later decided, at the age of seventy-three, that he had lived this moment of history at his mother’s side. It was evening; the Retreat from Moscow had begun and

  a ‘terrible shadow’ was falling over the Empire. She held his hand and pointed to the large white poster: ‘“Lahorie,” said my mother. “Remember that name.”

  Then she added, “That is your godfather.” Such is the ghost I perceive in the depths of my childhood.’21




  These fantasies of old age, with their patina of retold stories, are an eloquent reversal of the truth: a sense of exclusion from his parents’ world, and an attempt to determine the

  precise nature of childhood influences by appealing to the comparatively straightforward narratives of history.




  At the time, the only perceptible influence of history on Hugo’s life was the enlargement of Paris, which was about to swallow up part of the Feuillantines garden and raise the rent. At

  the end of 1813, the family moved to the ground floor of a modest hôtel, next door to the Fouchers, at 2 Rue des Vieilles-Tuileries (now 42 Rue du Cherche-Midi). A tiny courtyard left

  room for only a few flowers; Sophie was disappointed and claustrophobic. As if sensing imminent anarchy – or by contrast with the more confined setting – the boys’ games became

  more violent. Their mother was determined more than ever to maintain her hold over them. A letter written to Abel in September 1813 gives some idea of that steely affection which created such a

  strong bond between Victor Hugo and his mother and imbued his closest relationships with a sort of monumental stiltedness, as if friendship were a form of personal discipline and love itself

  indistinguishable from the abstract notion of it.




  

    

      

        I shall not scold you, my dear Abel, for not having written earlier, since I attribute it to thoughtlessness and a failure to consider my inevitable anxiety rather than to any lack of

        affection on your part. Whatever the case, my dear, do not let it happen again.




        I doubt your father could forbid you to write, but if that were so . . . your duty would be to disobey, just as your brothers should disobey were I to be so forgetful of the sacred laws of

        Nature as to forbid them to write to their father. . . . Let us hope, my dear Abel, for better times and above all that our common misfortunes might serve as a lesson to you. See where a lack

        of principles and extravagant passions can lead us. What a fine destiny your father has ruined! . . . How horrible to see a father despoiling himself and his family for such a

        woman!22


      


    


  




  Abel came home in time for the death-throes of the Empire. Cheerful bulletins had been arriving in the capital giving the latest position of the troops. For the first

  time, Napoleon’s soldiers were fighting on French soil. Some of the ‘victorious’ regiments named in the bulletins consisted only of officers with no troops to command. Some had

  ceased to exist altogether.




  On 29 March 1814, the Hugo family woke to the sound of fighting at the gates of Paris. The armies of the European coalition had overrun the country like a disease invading an exhausted body.

  Next day, the dreaded Cossacks arrived. Some were billeted in the Hugos’ house. Overawed by the great city, they turned out to be as docile as sheep.




  Napoleon went down immediately in the boys’ estimation, which effectively makes the point that, in contrast to the supposed two-stage evolution of the poet – ardent monarchism

  followed by ardent republicanism – the political background of his early years was a sea of constantly changing and conflicting loyalties.




  Mme Hugo decided to press what she thought was her advantage: her husband would now be recognized officially as a villain, a henchman of the defeated tyrant Napoleon. She rushed out to buy a

  white dress, a straw hat and some tuberoses (real fleurs de lys were too big to wear). Her objective now was to exact a financial commitment from the villain and to ensure a stable future

  for the children. In May, she set off, with Abel as a human shield, for Thionville, 12 miles from the border with Germany and Luxembourg. General Hugo had been holding the town since January and

  had managed to hang on, even after Napoleon’s abdication in April.




  Having sustained the siege for several months, General Hugo had honed his strategic abilities and his blood was up. He refused to send his ‘concubine’ away and forced his wife and

  son to sleep next door to his adulterous bedroom. One night, he threatened Sophie with a whip, locked her out in the street, and generally acted as though the siege had transferred itself to his

  own house. While this was going on, in a cunning rearguard action, he had the seals affixed to ‘the Demon’’s house in the Rue des Vieilles-Tuileries, using his sister in Paris as

  his agent. Sophie returned to find herself evicted and her two younger sons legally kidnapped by the General’s sister, Mme Martin, who found the boys impertinent and profligate.




  Sophie managed to reconquer her home and her children for a time, but the General descended on the city in September and emptied the house of all its linen –

  ‘10 shirts, 24 pairs of stockings, 19 cambric handkerchiefs for the use of the plaintiff, all the silver, a vermeil opera-glass, and placed the lot (as the plaintiff believes) in the hands of

  his concubine’.23 Messy, but effective. He then succeeded in regaining custody of the boys and wrote on 9 January 1815 from his

  temporary lodgings in Paris, thanking them for wishing him a Happy New Year:




  

    

      

        I accept your wishes, my dears. My own wishes, and all my actions, will always have your happiness as their principal object.




        Soon you will be restored to me and you shall see me unceasingly concerned with the completion of your education.24


      


    


  




  Their worst fear . . . A month later, the boys were ‘imprisoned’ in a boarding school nearby in the Rue Sainte-Marguerite, where Victor Hugo landed, at the end of the Empire, after

  so many heroic adventures, feeling like a plucked eagle, his feathers swept away with the classroom rubbish.25




  *




  ON 6 MARCH 1815, a month after Victor and Eugène were placed in the Pension Cordier, the Journal des Débats

  reported that that ‘coward’, Bonaparte, dripping with the blood of generations, had escaped from his island-empire of Elba and, with a motley band of foreigners, had dared to set foot

  in France. ‘All France will have but one cry: “Death to the tyrant; long live the King!”’26




  Two weeks later, the same newspaper reported the ‘miraculous return’ of Napoleon and the restoration of freedom, honour and virtue. Peasants, ‘drunk with joy’, flocked to

  see him pass and hardened soldiers wept openly in the streets. Only a few ‘miserable pamphlets’ opposed the hero’s triumph. ‘As we write, the streets, squares, boulevards

  and quais are covered with an immense throng, and cries of “Long live the Emperor” ring out everywhere, from Fontainebleau to Paris.’




  One hundred days after the landing at Fréjus, the telegraph brought news of a tremendous disaster in the north. It was the battle Hugo calls ‘the hinge of the

  nineteenth century’, when the ‘thinkers’ took over from the ‘swordsmen’.27 The name of the spot where

  Napoleon lost his final battle, ‘the first knot to resist his axe’, is given in Les Misérables, with more than a hint of its etymological significance: a little walled

  farmyard near the paltry village of Waterloo called Hougomont . . . ‘For a long time after, all over the gateposts, the prints of bleeding hands could be seen. . . . The breaches cry out, the

  holes are wounds, the trees, shivering and bending over, appear to be trying to flee.’28




  It is customary to chortle smugly, from the safety of our own century, at those who preferred to keep their jobs and lives by signing an oath of allegiance to the King, then, during the Hundred

  Days, to Napoleon, and then, once again, after Waterloo, to the King.




  As a professional soldier, General Hugo acknowledged Louis XVIII in April 1814. But his letter could hardly be called a volte-face: he proclaimed his fidelity to ‘the fatherland’ and

  – with an interesting choice of verb – to ‘the oath which chains us to King Louis XVIII’.




  Hugo’s father had behaved like a hero. He had been the last general to leave Madrid. During the disastrous retreat from Spain, he hatched a plan to kidnap Wellington (over-cautious

  comrades refused to help). In the musical chairs at the end of the Empire, he saved Thionville for France and stuck to his guns even after the war had ended and the royalist reprisals known as the

  White Terror had begun. In the spring of 1815, he enjoyed a triumph which mirrored Napoleon’s return to Paris. He was sent back to defend Thionville against the Prussians and received a

  standing ovation at the town theatre. When Victor Hugo visited Thionville in 1871, he found that his father was practically worshipped as the town saint.29 General Hugo flooded the moat, executed deserters, ignored all messages from the outside world and held the town until 13 November 1815, by which time civilization had moved

  on a stage and several of Napoleon’s generals had been shot as traitors.




  This extraordinary resistance gives Hugo’s father the great distinction of being the small but final full-stop to the history of Napoleon’s Empire. It has an exact parallel in his

  son’s resistance to the Empire of Napoleon III. The famous words he applies to political exiles of the Second Empire could easily be applied to General Hugo in 1815: ‘And if only one

  remains, I shall be that one!’




  Hugo’s first recorded reaction to the defeat of Napoleon and his father dates from later that year. Inspired by monarchist propaganda, he wrote a political song of

  his own. Entitled ‘Vive le Roi! Vive la France!’, it lunges straight to the point in the first line: ‘Corsica has bitten the dust!’ But even in such a conventional piece,

  assembled almost entirely from clichés, echoes of his own experience and of a more confessional form of literature can already be heard:




  

    

      

        

          

            

              

                

                  

                    A dark and dreary sadness




                    Reigned o’er our dejected hearts . . .




                    Return, black demon of war,




                    To the hell which spat you out . . .




                    At last, that treacherous Marshal –




                    Ney – will go to meet his death.




                    Tremble, regicidal cohort,




                    Jacobins, such is your fate.


                  


                


              


            


          


        


      


    


  




  When Hugo wrote this song, the fate of the treacherous Marshal Ney might well have been awaiting General Hugo, which means that the General’s youngest son was virtually signing his

  father’s death warrant: ‘Tyrant, you can no longer vent / Your stupid rage on us.’




  He then goes on to consider the sins of his childhood from the height of his thirteen years:




  

    

      

        

          

            

              

                

                  

                    Oh you whom a shameful glory




                    Has dazzled for too long,




                    Give up your hateful error




                    And learn to cherish the King!


                  


                


              


            


          


        


      


    


  




  The need to adopt a clear position is obvious, but also the attempt to convince himself that his monarchist mother had been right all along and that the confusion was over. His behaviour inside

  the school was proof of the opposite. The 1815 equivalent of Cowboys and Indians was Napoleon against the Rest of the World, and the boy who most often got to be leader of the civilized world was

  the precociously authoritative and authoritarian Victor Hugo.




  His father had been on the winning side and the losing side, a figure of power and a fugitive who continued to act as a tyrant towards his own children. It was impossible to reject or identify

  with him entirely, and this impossibility should serve as a warning against interpretations which impose a grid of simplistic antitheses on Hugo and all his work. His

  childhood had not been the plot of a melodrama, but a series of contradictory certainties. After Spain, every simplification was both implausible and necessary. How was it possible to detect any

  trace of divine justice in the victories and defeats of Napoleon, that ‘parody of God’s omnipotence’?30 Besides

  which, disputatious parents were always an excellent source of alternative interpretations. Inspected with the attention they deserve, the violent contrasts of Hugo’s works have that same

  cold sense of a necessary discipline as Goya’s Desastres de la Guerra; the same stark divisions of reality which make it possible to contemplate the dismembering of Truth.




  After all his adventures in Paris and the Empire, the thirteen-year-old Visconde had acquired a vast frame of reference for his own identity, but so far the only guiding principles had

  come in the form of political and domestic propaganda. The monster in the Feuillantines garden was still there – not only in the secret places of childhood, but imprisoned in his own brain.

  Any insights into his own condition would have to be founded on an original blindness, an intense curiosity about events which part of his mind had blotted out. The seemingly accidental wisdom of

  his mature work owes much to that endless patience with insoluble riddles which Hugo describes as the principal advantage of a miserable childhood.31




  With all the distortions and untruths piled up in his past, it seems quite natural that Hugo should come to an understanding of the universe long before he comprehended the circumstances of his

  own birth and upbringing; also, paradoxically, that his work should help to provide the psychological foundations of later, empirical discoveries. The universe as it reproduces itself in

  Hugo’s brain has at its centre that revolting phenomenon now called a Black Hole: ‘A dreadful black sun radiating darkness’.32




  





  

    

      
CHAPTER FOUR



    


  




  Metromania




  (1815–1818)




  A RESTORATION, according to Hugo, is like the restoration of a painting.1 The recent past is scraped off to reveal the old order underneath. Louis XVIII returned from exile in England, brushed aside the last twenty years and dated his reign from the

  death of Louis XVII in 1795. But the damage had been done. France now had a Charter which recognized the principles of liberty and equality. A dangerous precedent, according to the royalist

  extremists known as the Ultras, who would soon be able to call on the formidable voice of the nation’s youngest great poet: Victor-Marie Hugo.




  Almost as soon as Napoleon set sail for St Helena, business picked up – especially for sign-writers: Paris was redrafting its own history. The Place de la Concorde, formerly Place de la

  Révolution, was now the Place Louis XV. The square which had been the Place de l’Indivisibilité and then the Place des Vosges was once again the Place Royale. Capital

  ‘N’s were chiselled off the face of monuments, and the four horses on the triumphal arch in front of the Louvre were unbolted and returned to Venice, where Bonaparte had stolen

  them.




  In Mme Hugo’s milieu, General Hugo and his fellow ‘Republicans’ were known as ‘Brigands of the Loire’ (from the final position of the defeated French Army). The

  name of their murderous ringleader was pronounced ‘Buonaparté’ to make it sound as foreign as possible. In 1815, a young Englishman, Viscount Palmerston, crossed the

  Channel and recorded the unsurprising fact that the worst thing you could say to a Frenchman was ‘Filthy rabble of a vanquished nation’.2 But for many Frenchmen, only ‘the Ogre of Corsica’ had been vanquished. The Prussians who camped in the Champs-Élysées and the Cossacks whose horses munched the grass in the Tuileries Gardens were ‘the Allies’. In conservative circles it was fashionable to affect an English accent. For a time, the

  return of the émigrés and their powdered wigs concealed the fact that irreversible changes had occurred. The Empire had provided an administrative and social foundation for the

  ideals of 1789, and produced a generation of old men and orphans to put them into practice.




  Three decades later, Hugo learned from an English newspaper that shiploads of skeletons picked up on Napoleonic battlefields had arrived in Hull to be crushed into fertilizer: ‘the final

  by-product of Napoleon’s victories: fattening up English cows’.3 Almost a million Frenchmen had died since the Revolution,

  half of them under the age of twenty-eight.




  In 1815, Hugo’s hero was Chateaubriand. Already at the age of forty-seven a grand old man of French letters, Chateaubriand had launched his political career as a constitutional royalist.

  This was the moderate line which Mme Hugo followed – an affiliation which made her and, therefore, her sons more accepting than they might have been of those strangely sensual, melancholy

  fragments of Chateaubriand’s Le Génie du Christianisme, ‘Atala’ and ‘René’ – soon to be associated with something called

  ‘Romanticisme’ and disowned by their author. Chateaubriand proved his genius for poignant, diplomatic symbols when he went with an official deputation to exhume what remained of

  Marie-Antoinette from the common grave. In the piles of skeletons, he claimed to recognize her by her ‘smile’.




  Meanwhile, the youngest child of one of the ‘Brigands of the Loire’ was looking for plausible explanations of what had happened to France and to his own family. Victor Hugo was

  filling up notebooks with hundreds of lines of verse, scribbling ‘graffiti in the latrines of history’.4




  *




  VICTOR AND EUGÈNE spent the first three-and-a-half years of the Restoration in the Pension Cordier, wedged in a narrow

  street under Saint-Germain-des-Prés.5 It was a dark and noisy quartier of scrap-metal merchants, the most densely

  populated part of Paris. At one end of the street was a prison, at the other, across the Rue de l’Égout (‘Drain Street’, where, exceptionally, the

  drain was covered), a stone dragon carved over a gateway gave its name to the Passage du Dragon.




  When Hugo revisited the school in all his glory at the age of forty-four, pupils and teachers recited tributes to the poet who, according to school legend, had sat, Buddha-like, under the school

  tree (an Indian walnut), writing his first poems. It was the only vegetation on the premises, though an optimist had painted the walls of the inner courtyard to look like a park, with leafy bowers

  and silvery fountains. Here, the boys were incarcerated by their father from 13 February 1815 until 8 September 1818, forbidden to see their mother and placed in the care of an old teacher called

  Cordier, remarkable for his snuff-filled nostrils and his taste in clothes: M. Cordier wore a Polish cap with ear-flaps and a fur-lined coat because he thought they made him look like Jean-Jacques

  Rousseau – a predilection which seems to have had little effect on his pedagogical practice, since he used his metal snuff-box to hammer important points into his pupils’ heads.




  The timetable was easy to remember. This one is taken from their second year, when most of the classes were held three-quarters of a mile away at the Collège Louis-le-Grand. The emphasis

  on Mathematics reflects the General’s desire to see his boys obtain a place at the École Polytechnique and thus, eventually, in the Army.




  

    

      

        

          

            

              

                8.00: Mathematics and Algebra.




                12.30: Lunch at the Pension, followed by Drawing.




                2.00–5.00: Philosophy.




                6.00–10.00: Mathematics and homework.


              


            


          


        


      


    


  




  Any spare time was taken up with obligatory walks. Holidays consisted of ‘work in moderation’ and longer and more frequent walks. ‘Viscount Hugo’ had fallen prey to the

  French education system.




  After several washings in Hugo’s memory the colours of the Pension Cordier are still authentic and the details of his accounts amazingly accurate, even the suspiciously symbolic antithesis

  according to which one of his classmates became a Prefect of Police, while another – a boy called Joly – became a convict: the former a threat to Hugo’s freedom, the latter to his

  purse. One detail, however, reflects the personal Restoration in Hugo’s mind, when his father retrospectively became a hero. The General supposedly requested that his

  sons be accommodated in a private room instead of being lumped together with the other boys in the common dormitory. As a result, Victor and Eugène shared a room with the future Prefect of

  Police. But official statistics suggest that the special treatment was a fantasy: in August 1817 the Pension Cordier had only four boarders and twelve day-boys. If the common dormitory existed, it

  was even more exclusive than the private room.




  General Hugo was in no mood or position to pay for luxuries. He had retired, temporarily he hoped, to Blois, where he lived with his mistress in a little white house by the banks of the Loire.

  Painfully ignorant of the needs of growing boys, he developed a nasty suspicion that Sophie was encouraging them to destroy their clothes. The General’s sister in Paris was instructed to

  ‘have the holes plugged with scraps and then they will only have themselves to blame if they are not decently dressed’.6




  Eugène and Victor responded with enormous dignity, at first in letters written by Eugène and signed by both of them. From their mother, they had learned the power of consistent

  moral principles in the face of a sporadically apoplectic General. The woman they refused to call ‘Aunt’ was driven to distraction – though the fact that she later left most of

  her money to Abel and Victor suggests an improvement in relations and some blackening of the picture. They complained that she withheld the money they needed for knife-sharpening, mathematical

  instruments, book-binding (since books were sold in paper covers) and pew-rent7 (probably a stab at the old atheist rather than a sign

  of piety: the thought of General Hugo giving money to a church . . .). Experts in domestic warfare, they tried to drive a wedge between the General and his sister:




  

    

      

        You told us that she was to see to our needs. No doubt you issued her with instructions, but we cannot believe that you ordered her to treat your sons as she would like to

        treat us. We can ask her for nothing, not even shoes, without her immediately exclaiming . . . If we try to prove that we are right, we are forced to endure a torrent of crude insults

        and, if we try to escape, we have to hear ourselves being called stupid and impertinent. . . . We have reason to believe that she is being less than honest with you.8


      


    


  




  The General himself received an even lower moral rating. In an ‘open letter’ (presumably a note passed on by M. Cordier), he had referred to their

  ‘unhappy mother’. ‘What would you have done’, they asked him, ‘in the days when you were pleased to find happiness with her? What would you have done to the person who

  had the temerity to use such language? She is and always has been the same, and we still think of her now as you thought of her then.’9 Both the sentiments and the style of writing evoked the more courtly age of the Ancien Régime.




  There is no doubt that the boys were shabbily treated, that their father pretended not to have received some of their letters, lied about reductions in his pay and failed to calculate the

  expense of prolonging an education as far as the École Polytechnique. It is equally certain that he became a testing-ground for one of literature’s great emotional manipulators and

  that Victor and Eugène successfully turned the situation to their moral advantage. For the time being, circumstances agreed with Hugo’s conscience.




  *




  WHEN HUGO COMPLAINED that the fantasy superhuman known as ‘God’ had made a mess of human existence by putting old age

  after childhood,10 he might have cited himself as an exception. The enfant terrible of the French Romantics was practically an

  adult at the age of fifteen. Whenever any serious discipline problem arose in the Pension Cordier, the teachers appealed to his authority. Shortly after their arrival, he and Eugène had

  divided the territory into two ‘nations’, Victor’s being the larger. He sat in the courtyard on a makeshift throne, punishing offenders and rewarding the faithful with medals made

  of gold and silver paper and a lilac-coloured ribbon. (According to Victor’s research, the colour was not in official use.) Sometimes, to supplement school meals, a day-boy called Léon

  Gatayes was sent by King Victor to buy a slice of Italian cheese, half rind, half fat. When Gatayes returned, the cheese-slice was inspected. If it failed to match the instructions, Gatayes was

  kicked in the shins.11




  Later in life, Gatayes became a noted horseman, swimmer, marksman and duellist. He also rebuilt the Hugos’ fireplace for them in the Place Royale. Noticing that he was a foot shorter than

  Gatayes, Hugo asked him why he had never retaliated. The answer was obvious: because Hugo would not have entrusted him with any more errands.12




  This sounds like a happy tale of survival and suggests a successful assimilation of at least one aspect of his father. But it also reveals a delicate dilemma, which Hugo spent most of his early

  life trying to resolve. He was in the tricky position of having to rebel against an iconoclast. He had to be as gentlemanly and as self-disciplined as the General was not, to look down on him, as

  it were, from below, whilst asserting his independence. The most awkward corollary of this was that the ideal of uprightness which the age and Mme Hugo had implanted in his mind included

  unquestioning respect for fathers. But how was it possible to revere a patricidal generation which had decapitated its King and, in the Romantic imagination, murdered God?




  At school, the anger which could not be expended on his father found a target in Mathematics – ‘the hideous rack of Xs and Ys’ on which the General had decided he should be

  stretched.13 The records of Louis-le-Grand show that Hugo obtained merits in Philosophy, Geometry and Physics, but none in

  Mathematics,14 and he seems to have done his best not to enjoy it. Well into old age, he boasted of a rare aptitude for Mathematics

  which allowed him to reach the correct answers by paths unknown to his teachers, extrapolating solutions ‘of singularly rare construction and complicated symmetry’.15 On one occasion, he calculated, ‘to the nearest hundred’, how many horses it would take to pull the Earth out of

  orbit.16 At the Pension Cordier, it was precisely this capacity to generate clear and unavoidable evidence which met with strong

  mental resistance. Mathematical formulae were ‘hydras, each with their fateful secret, squatting on the inert pedestal of obscurity’. Theorems – according to one of the most

  revealing images Hugo ever gave of his mind’s relationship to objective truth – ‘attached their leaden weights to the feet of the lugubrious diver’.17




  These ambiguous metaphors indicate a kind of intellectual allergy to the world of fact, where ‘proof reigns in the pitiless air’. His natural preference was for long journeys through

  forests of images which perpetually defer the final evidence. An enormous curiosity coupled with an enormous desire not to know. His only happy memory of the subject is of

  the teacher at Louis-le-Grand who, after an hour of calculation, arrived at the sign of the Infinite and stopped: ∞. Hugo calls this symbol the pair of spectacles which sits on the

  thinker’s nose.18 Excellent for long-range vision, but as good as a blindfold for the immediate.




  *




  HAPPILY, HUGO DISCOVERED the perfect medium for rebellion early in his school career. It was his greatest educational achievement

  and something which he claimed he never had to learn: French versification. It simply sprouted in his brain, complete with all its rules.19




  To dismiss this as a boast (like the critic Gustave Planche who said that Hugo would claim to have discovered the propositions of Euclid ‘by intuition’20), is to miss a splendid opportunity for understanding Hugo’s real strangeness, to see him as a kind of literary functionary who chopped his thoughts into

  twelve-syllable segments simply because every poet before him had done the same.




  The evidence provided by Hugo’s work is that the seemingly arbitrary regimentation of language known as French verse is not an artificial construction designed by malicious pedants to

  obstruct the free expression of ideas, but a spontaneous creation of the collective unconscious. The structures of French verse correspond to structures in the mind and even, according to a more

  ambitious view, to structures in the material universe: an idea more familiar nowadays in its application to twelve-bar blues and reggae. To attribute the twelve-syllable alexandrine, for instance,

  to the author of a rule-book would be like trying to identify the copyright holder of a Greek myth.21




  If Hugo had formulated his instincts in the theoretical manner of a Coleridge or a Mallarmé, he would have ensured himself a place among the intellectual seers of Modernism. Instead, the

  didactic trees of Hugo’s odes – and his own enormous ego – have hidden the magical forest. It rarely occurred to him to dwell on the ‘obvious’: that each vowel has its

  own colour, that words are living beings with complex physiognomies of which their dictionary definition is only a trait. His life, on the other hand, is full of beautifully concrete proofs of the

  mysterious logic of verse. Some explanation of the sheer size of Hugo’s output can be found in the fact that, as early as 1816, in the Pension Cordier, complete

  alexandrines and even whole poems were forming themselves in his mind while he slept and survived the passage from dream to paper. His daily correspondence is littered with fragments of verse like

  driftwood from imaginary vessels abandoned in other parts of the brain. Hugo actually complained about this involuntary activity as a nuisance, as if it had been a speech impediment or a

  tic.22 In the nineteenth century, it was practically a recognized mental illness: ‘metromania’. At least one person is

  known to have been imprisoned for it.23




  This untranslatable idiom was Hugo’s mother tongue, and to ignore the phenomenon would mean writing part of his biography in reverse. He already had a form of expression; the task now was

  to find a reality to fit it.




  It may well be that ‘metromania’ saved him from a more serious form of insanity. The conventionality and rules of French verse were an official guarantee that the feelings he

  expressed were authentic and that society, like French prosody, had a place for them. The added advantage was that, by imposing constraints, it greatly increased the possibilities for that

  disciplined revolt which seemed to be the only answer to his father.




  It seems strange today to call this activity rebellious. In the early days of public education there was no such thing as a swot. The ‘creep’, who devotes every waking hour to

  academic work, is the invention of a more democratic age. By writing poems – no matter how conformist the subject – Hugo would inevitably be rebelling. The University, which dictated

  school policy, pursued a line of active discouragement: ‘For pupils of sixteen or seventeen, the study of French versification . . . can only be a dangerous distraction or a sterile

  torment.’24 One enlightened pedagogue actually published his treatise on versification as a kind of prophylactic for juvenile

  rhymesters. One might as well admit, he wrote, that the vice exists and at least make sure that the boys are doing it according to the rules.25




  The quality of the poems, therefore, was a secondary consideration. Hugo in any case had few illusions on the subject, though there is no sign that he ever despaired of becoming a great poet. It

  was simply a matter of time and determination. The main problem in the days of the Pension Cordier was that his progress was so fast that by the time he had completed the

  third act of Athélie (a classical-style tragedy set in Romantic Scandinavia), he found the first act so intolerably puerile that he had to start from scratch. In one of the three

  notebooks which contain his earliest poems, he informed his hypothetical reader that anything which had not been crossed out could safely be read, and then crossed out almost the entire notebook.

  Later, he drew an egg with an embryo inside and entitled the contents ‘The rubbish I wrote before I was born’ – surely an example of his famous false modesty: the free-range poet

  produced a vast anthology of contemporary trends in French poetry which is so up-to-date that he was obviously being fed from the outside by brother Abel, who now had a job in the civil service and

  several literary friends.




  Sometimes averaging thirty faultless lines a night, Hugo wrote romances (the equivalent of pop song lyrics), imitations of Ossian – raging torrents, birds of prey and a wild-eyed

  bard with bristling hair, steering his ‘frail barque’ under Gothic battlements. He lampooned the common variety of epic poem which applied the Homeric style to topics such as

  horticulture: ‘I should sing the endive, swelling with the sap of clear streams . . . The tortuous contours of the enormous cucumber.’ Still at an age when famous inventions are a

  source of patriotic pride, he enthused about that ‘vast breast swollen with subtle air’ (the balloon), and those ‘tutelary orbs attached to the flanks of huge furnaces’ (the

  steamship). The poet who was to boast of giving a home to that ‘misérable’ of the dictionary, the word merde, seems to have sensed that the classical refusal to

  call a spade a spade, however ludicrous, had certain poetic virtues – an imaginative skirting of the truth which was somehow more illuminating, potentially, than mathematical exactitude.




  He also tried his hand at the fable – a genre which was still widely practised 150 years after La Fontaine. The fable entitled ‘L’Avarice et l’Envie’ is one

  of Hugo’s least-known poems but it sticks in the mind along with his finest allegories. Avarice and Envy meet Desire, who promises that the first to speak will have whatever she wishes, and

  the second will have it twice over. Envy thinks for a moment, then says, ‘Put out one of my eyes.’26




  This little fable opens a door into the cruelly ingenious mind which ruled the roost at the Pension Cordier. With different protagonists, the same story might have been an

  allegory of heroic self-sacrifice. As it is, it constitutes a sharp comment on the ideal of military glory on which General Hugo based his self-esteem.




  Other poems were more in keeping with schoolboy concerns. The lines ‘on a broken cornice’ are the earliest description in French poetry of a game of football.27 Equally noteworthy are some examples of a tiny sub-genre: riddles to which the answer is a fart – of which the French language distinguishes two

  varieties. In one, Hugo cleverly conceals the word for the silent variety (vesse) in a rhyme on esse. This is the sort of Byzantine virtuosity on which Mallarmé was to base an

  entire poetics. In Restoration France, it was just silliness. Perhaps Hugo was thinking of himself when he wrote, in a chanson dated February 1818:




  

    

      

        

          

            

              

                

                  

                    Many a great poet is often




                    Nothing but a literary giraffe:




                    How great he seems in front,




                    How small he is behind!28


                  


                


              


            


          


        


      


    


  




  There is a surprising professionalism in Hugo’s juvenilia which has led some critics to suspect him of copying out the work of other poets – not that any theft has come to light. His

  alexandrines already have that gorgeous orotundity which makes it almost impossible to read them silently or sitting down. This is poetry in search of a context – ideally, a large crowd

  cheering at the end of each stanza. Hugo himself compared his style to the flowing lava of a volcano which has since solidified.29 At

  the age of fifteen, the volcano was just as capable of coughing up a little poem on chamber-pots as a touching fantasy in the Racinian style entitled, ‘A Father Mourns the Death of His

  Son’.




  On the surface, everything had been sorted out: his father, according to another ‘Élégie’, was the agent of ‘implacable Destiny’ which kept him apart from

  his sainted mother. The only problem seemed to be that ‘sincerity’ depended on a judicious use of rhetorical devices: ‘This Elegy represents two hours’ work . . . Why does

  the mind say so poorly what the heart feels so well?’ It was the dilemma of the confessional poet:




  

    

      

        

          

            

              

                

                  

                    If, in order to be a good poet,




                    One must be full of one’s subject,




                    Then how, when the subject is myself,




                    Could I be fuller than I am?30


                  


                


              


            


          


        


      


    


  




  That wooden formality which seemed to drain the poems of the emotional reality that inspired them in the first place was an essential part of the project. Poetry was also a means of repression.

  Words inscribed on paper could be erased from the brain; doubts turned into certainties. Painful memories could be altered and then re-remembered from the written version. The following lines, from

  ‘Mes Adieux à l’Enfance’, were intended for his mother, but they might just as well have been addressed to the art she encouraged him to practise:




  

    

      

        

          

            You who supported the wavering steps of my happy childhood,




            Come and repress the ardent unruliness of my mettlesome youth.


          


        


      


    


  




  This peculiar injunction to his mother should be read with its historical context in mind: an age in which schoolboys could swear passionate, undying love to their mothers without fear of

  ridicule. But the obvious reference to puberty indicates a potentially disastrous regimentation of the mind: ‘Duty and discipline, those lamp-shades of the heart and soul’.31 Amazingly, the evocation of Hugo’s childhood world says nothing at all of Italy or Spain. Everything appears to have passed off

  harmlessly within the walls of the Feuillantines garden, where the only hint of the horrors of war, according to the poem, was the occasional experiment with gunpowder.




  *




  HUGO’S CONTENTION that disobedient schoolboys are a product of their teachers’ intolerance

  was confirmed in May 1817 when a professional sadist called Decotte took over from Cordier. A slyly sarcastic report from a school inspector noted that Emmanuel Decotte was ‘full of pride,

  ambition and energy’ and obviously, therefore, the right man for the job.32




  The new teacher identified Victor Hugo as the chief threat to his authority, and earned his place in literary history by forcing Hugo’s drawer and confiscating his private journal. The

  journal contained a declaration of political and literary ambition dated 10 July 1816 – ‘I want to be Chateaubriand or nothing’ (as common a desire in the

  1810s as a desire to be Victor Hugo was in the 1830s and 1840s). There was also some poetry, which Decotte might have compared to his own rhymed discourse on education policy, and a detailed

  character sketch which concluded that Decotte was a ‘scoundrel’. Hugo was accused of ‘ingratitude’ – an especially grievous sin since he had been enjoying ‘care

  and attention the like of which no pupil has ever seen’. Victor Hugo Raconté records the exchange:




  

    

      

        VICTOR: It is I, Monsieur, who should be reproaching you. You have sought out my secrets, violated my mind and laid bare my soul. . . .




        DECOTTE: Take care, Monsieur, you shall be sent back to your family.




        VICTOR: Send me back to my family. That is my greatest wish.


      


    


  




  In its nineteenth-century form, the tale of the hero’s origin almost always includes a confiscation episode. It establishes the hero as a threat to the old order, demonstrates the

  latter’s criminal nature whilst supplying the former with a motive (revenge), and, since the work is invariably lost or destroyed, allows its precocious brilliance to swell in the

  reader’s imagination.




  The value of the episode in Hugo’s case lies in his reaction. His ‘insolence’ prefigures his response to later accusations and confiscations by other tyrants such as the French

  press or Napoleon III. But even here, the attempt to manufacture sturdy moral positions for himself has a dark side: the inevitable impression of his own guilt. After years of wrangling, his

  parents would soon be legally separated, and, like most children in similar circumstances, Hugo was unable to imagine himself as an innocent victim. When he tells the story of Adam and Eve in La

  Fin de Satan, original sin is not associated with a hunger for knowledge. Evil enters the world with the next generation; specifically, with Abel’s jealous brother.




  Fortunately, the tyrannical Decotte was complemented by a fairy godmother: a young man with a pock-marked face and a happy smile called Félix Biscarrat33 – the school dogsbody who supervised the pupils and led the same sort of dismal boarding-school life as today’s surveillants, but with even

  worse career prospects.34




  Biscarrat was the first person after Hugo’s mother to recognize his poetic genius. He was even relaxed and modern-spirited enough to admire such lines as

  ‘Making their bones cry out ’neath his devouring teeth’ or ‘Intoxicated with gore and brimming with blood’, from Hugo’s verse translation of The

  Aeneid.35 This enlightened reader was the guiding spirit in the two events which marked Hugo’s transition to the adult

  world.




  One of Biscarrat’s duties was to take the pupils out on walks. Once, he had deviated from the prescribed route to lead them up inside the dome of the Sorbonne. His girlfriend – the

  daughter of the school laundress – knew someone who worked there. They climbed a series of ladders and, from the top, heard the Allied armies approaching Paris. Hugo was struck by the sunny

  landscape beyond the city gates and its apparent indifference to the beings who called it France – a recurrent theme in his poetry: Nature obliviously pursuing its eternal circle. It was also

  his first experience of vertigo in the true sense: a fear that his own mind was going to make him jump off the parapet.




  The scene from the top of the Sorbonne should be imagined with Hugo’s phenomenal vision: an extraordinary far-sightedness, with curious distortions of colour and perspective. This useful

  defect lends an unexpectedly literal nuance to his definition of the genius as a creature with a microscope in one eye and a telescope in the other, ‘rummaging about in the infinitely large

  and the infinitely small’.36




  Hugo’s eyesight also served him well on the ascent, when he was able to inspect the equally vertiginous view under the girlfriend’s skirt . . . If his separate memories of childhood

  are assembled in chronological order, they show his rise in the world coinciding with the gradual, piecemeal discovery of the female body: the legs of Mlle Rose, the breasts of the girl at Bayonne,

  the lips of Pepita, and now the more impressive panorama inside the dome of the Sorbonne.




  There is no attempt in Victor Hugo Raconté to draw a moral from the story as a whole. Yet, as on so many other occasions, Hugo’s day-to-day life appears to have ordered

  itself as though his mind were a magical sieve through which reality fell like dust to arrange itself in meaningful patterns. He climbs to a position of prominence in the city and, almost at the

  same time, discovers the historical moment which signals the defeat of his father, the source of earthly satisfaction, the indifference of Mother Nature and a desire to jump into the void. All this

  takes place inside the main seat of French learning. Normally, this spontaneously metaphorical vision, the instantaneous translation of every event into an allegory of

  something else, would be described as psychosis, and there is a disturbing similarity between some of Hugo’s later poems and the almost tediously astonishing images produced by garrulous

  psychotics.




  If Hugo continued to inhabit the reality recognized by the rest of society, it was perhaps because his point of departure was always a concrete object and because his relationship with the

  visible world had a strong sexual foundation. Even his explicitly sexual activities should be seen, on one level, as applications of an intellectual method. In old age, he was simply more prolific

  in flesh than on paper. In his youth, this mode of perception often appears in a trivial or ridiculous light. The schoolboy Hugo was also in the habit of gazing at naked statues in the Luxembourg

  Gardens. Once, he hid in the wardrobe of an attic-room in his mother’s house in order to observe the maid as she got out of bed.37 The fact that in each case the female figure was unaware of the probing eye marks him out as a voyeur. But it was the same eye which wrote Les Contemplations and

  which ‘lifted up the skirts of Nature’. The voyeur was also a voyant, a seer in both senses.




  Biscarrat’s second contribution to Hugo’s career brought him his first taste of fame. For their annual poetry competition in 1817, the forty ageing ‘Immortals’ of the

  Académie Française had set one of their deeply uncontroversial titles: ‘The Happiness to be Derived from Study in All the Circumstances of Life’.38 When he saw the announcement, Hugo wrote a 334-line ode to the joys and uses of reading books, with the faintest of hints that school (represented by

  ‘noise, disturbance and imposition’) was inimical to study and the predictably royalist sentiment that literature teaches us to hate ‘cruel conquerors and wild

  warriors’.




  When the poem was finished, Biscarrat directed the crocodile of pupils towards the dome of the Institut* on the Left Bank of the

  Seine, ordered them to study the stone lions outside, ran up the steps with Hugo and deposited the poem in the Academy’s office.




  A few months later, brother Abel came to tell Victor the news: he was a blithering idiot. If he hadn’t let it be known in his poem that he had ‘scarce seen

  three lustres* complete their course’, he probably would have won first prize. No one believed he was only fifteen. Hugo, whose

  triumph seems to have earned him the right to wander more freely, rushed to show the Perpetual Secretary of the Académie Française his birth certificate and was told, with an

  off-handedness which shocked him, ‘Our incredulity will be of service to you.’ The Secretary was right: Hugo’s poem made him instantly famous. There were official attempts to

  revive public interest in the arts. These competitions and the exchange of epigrams and odes that followed them were major literary events. The Academy was delighted to have discovered an infant

  prodigy, especially a prodigy who held the correct political views.




  Hugo’s first academic success was also a turning-point in the history of relations with his family – not only because it demonstrated his embarrassing superiority to Eugène,

  who was also writing poems and competing for their mother’s admiration. On 26 August 1817, Abel sent one of his ‘impertinent’ letters to the General in Blois. At the age of

  fifteen-and-a-half, he announced, Victor had been awarded a mention honorable by the Académie Française. (Literally, this was true: the poem was ‘mentioned’ in the

  Academy’s public meeting and this was certainly an ‘honour’; but a mention honorable was a particular rating, which Victor had not received.) ‘And yet,’ wrote

  Abel, ‘these are the children whom you persecute with such fury.’ For an objective opinion, the General could refer to the latest issue of the Journal de Commerce. There, he

  would learn that ‘a military career is not the only career that brings glory’.




  If General Hugo looked at that day’s Journal de Commerce, he would have seen an accusatory finger rising off the page: ‘What grave censor would not be moved by a child of

  fifteen who ingenuously sends his poem to the Academy and who, perhaps without knowing it himself, writes verse which anyone would consider a good literary fortune?’ The anonymous journalist,

  sounding suspiciously like Abel Hugo, reported the surprise and delight of the Academy’s mainly female audience. Victor’s description of what he felt when reading about the tragic passion of Dido in The Aeneid was a perfect, unthreatening vignette of a sentimental young man aware of vague stirrings. A heart-throb was in the making:




  

    

      

        

          

            There, my heart is more tender, better able to share




            The sorrows which perhaps one day it must feel.


          


        


      


    


  




  Hugo’s success was a moral victory over his father, and it was entirely appropriate that the first review of his work should take the form it did – literary criticism combined with

  practical advice on child-rearing:




  

    

      

        Parents to whom this disciple of Virgil belongs . . . see with what care and tenderness this sweet and innocent creature should be raised. Preserve it from those travails

        which eat away at time and the heart, the rigours which wither talent before it has fully bloomed, and perhaps we shall owe to you a successor of Malfilâtre.*


      


    


  




  The General’s reaction is unknown, but from now on, he was more inclined to comply with his sons’ requests. They were to be allowed to study law – in other words, to be free

  agents who signed up for classes and occasionally transported their bodies to an amphitheatre in the Sorbonne.
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